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MAKING GOVERNMENT WORK: OMB'S PLAN

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 3, 1994

U.S. Senate,
Committee on Governmental Affairs,

Washington, DC.

The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:37 a.m., in room

216, Hart Senate Office Building, Hon. John Glenn, Chairman of

the Committee, presiding.

Present: Senators Glenn, Lieberman, Dorgan, Roth, and Cohen.

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN GLENN

Chairman Glenn. The hearing will be in order.

I understand our witness this morning made the same mistake

that I have made in the past few days, and that is going to the

wrong hearing room. Our other hearing room, the one we are usu-

ally in, is being refurbished, and so I have made that same mis-

take.

I want to continue this morning our discussions on improving the

management and performance of the Federal Government.
Now, too often these are very dry, dull words, but what it means

is: Where does the buck stop? Does it stop here? Who is minding

the store? Who is in charge?
Last week the Committee heard from Comptroller General

Charles Bowsher, who raised concerns that in many Federal agen-

cies there is still inadequate leadership and training and systems

and capacity. This morning we are pleased to have with us Leon
Panetta, Director of the Office of Management and Budget, whose
charter is, aside from budget matters—which obviously are a very

major part of his activity—to improve the effectiveness and effi-

ciency of the Government, to put the M back into 0MB.
Now, I know we want to give the new administration time to ac-

complish some of these things and time to get everything working,

and I have worked closely with the National Performance Review

and the Vice President. We have had meetings on many of these

issues. Our Committee has been involved and will continue to be

involved, and I support that effort.

Over the years, this Committee and the Congress have given the

0MB Director a set of tools to help eliminate fraud, waste, and
abuse, and to make Government work better for everyone, not just

for a favored few, as we have seen sometimes in the past. These

tools that this Committee has been instrumental in establishing in

Government include the Chief Financial Officers Act, the Inspec-

tors General Act and its 1988 amendments, the Federal Managers'
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Financial Integrity Act, and the Government Performance and Re-
sults Act.

Once again, these are rather dry words, and they evoke no men-
tal image like M-1 tanks and B-2 bombers and F-18's if we are

talking about defense matters. But effectively implemented, these

laws provide the foundation for the kinds of changes to Govern-
ment that Americans are now demanding from their politicians.

And taxpayers' mental image is of pa5dng tsix money that is going

to take away from their vacation money or of buying their kids a
new coat, and that is the mental image they get.

And I do not blame them because, you know, we have a lot of

things still going on in Government that are just atrocious. In this

room yesterday, we had the new Secretary of Defense nominee in

here, Bill Perry, and during some of my questioning, I pointed out
to him what financial management or lack of financial manage-
ment we still have over in the Pentagon, things that have not been
corrected even though we have pointed them out year after year;

for instance, the M accounts—and you are familiar with those; the
DBOF, Defense Business Operations Funds.
Here are some other examples: $1.4 billion over the last 9

months paid out for which no bill had been submitted to the Gov-
ernment, and contractors returning money saying, "We sent you no
bill." $1.4 billion paid for which there was no bill. Now, that just

shows there is no management to speak of in the financial area.

Fictitious military members, millions went out in unauthorized

Excess procurement, because there is no accurate inventory of

equipment, so we buy more not knowing what we have in the ware-
house.
Two hundred different accounting systems across Government,

according to GAO. Army has 43 separate accounting systems. The
Navy estimated $7 billion worth of spares aboard ship that they
mark off as being expended once they are aboard ship. Ships are
being decommissioned now. And yet we are still buying that same
inventory of stuff that is aboard ship because it does not show on
the inventory anymore.
Defense Department, again, $43 billion worth of unmatched dis-

bursements. A $43 billion question mark is what it boils down to.

We can go on sind on with this, and yet we know that in each
one of the services over there, we have yet to select the Assistant
Secretaries for Financial Management. The only one that is in

place over there is the Comptroller for the Department of Defense,
John Hamre, and I think he is going to try and do a good job on
it. But these are just some examples of things where we need bet-

ter financial management.
IRS is owed, they say, $18.7 billion that is out there waiting to

be collected. They are actually owed somewhere around $110, $120
billion. A lot of that is held by bankrupt companies or individuals.

But $18.7 billion they estimate—if they just had the people, they
could go out and get it. $18.7 billion, and we argue over a million

here, a million there once in a while on some bills. But $18.7 billion

out there is waiting to be collected.

Mr. Bowsher testified that a very major part of this problem is

leadership and institutional commitment. With past administra-



tions we have talked about the M in 0MB standing more for "mori-

bund" than it did for "management."
We back this up in public opinion polls. One poll showed that

people believed 41 cents of every dollar that they send in to the

Federal Government in taxes is wasted or stolen. In the New York
Times yesterday and today are lead articles about the waste in the

school program; fraud, waste, and abuse have been losing $3 to $4
billion annually—waste, fraud, loan defaults and so on. So the need
to do something in this area is obvious.

The national Performance Review has taken some of this on. I

think they have done a good job of pointing out many areas in

which we need to make immediate improvements, but let me un-
derscore that little progress will be made on these issues unless we
pay attention to the statutory foundation that Congress gave 0MB
and expects it to fulfill. That statutory foundation mesuis nothing
unless it is used and it is exercised.

As part of that foundation, it is imperative that the administra-
tion, as soon as possible, fill the positions of 0MB Deputy Director

for Management and Comptroller of OMB's Office of Federal Finan-
cial Management.
We have had questions raised with us about what the competi-

tive position is between the NPR and 0MB, and by law 0MB is

required to do certain things. I do not know whether we are getting
off base here with some of the NPR or not, but I would appreciate
it if you would address that in your remarks later on today.

Is there an assumption of functions over to NPR that was not in-

tended in law and which we intended to be in 0MB and still intend
to be in 0MB?
As far as filling the positions, you and I have talked about this

before, Mr. Panetta. We had Mr. Lader in. I thought it was great.

We met and discussed his plans over there. We thought things
were good, it was finally looking up, and then he is taken out over
to do White House personnel work, and then goes out of that into
Assistant Chief of Staff. And so here we are one-fourth of the way
through the President's first term—one-fourth of the way through
the term, and we have no one in charge of that M in 0MB as a
person to run the CFO's of Government and so on. One year into
this, we have no CFO leadership, no one appointed as Comptroller.
And as Mr. Bowsher pointed out the other day, ever since we au-
thorized the Comptroller position and it went into law, that posi-

tion has been vacant 50 percent of the time since the CFO Act was
passed in 1990.

I do not know whether we just do not believe in the need for

management or the importance of it or what. I sent a letter to the
President on the 9th of December about these matters. We got a
response which basically acknowledged our letter and not more,
and I believe you address that briefly in your remarks today.
Now, having said that and having been critical that we do not

have the people in place to execute some of these things to correct
just some of the difficulties that I mentioned over in DOD, you can
repeat that same story across Government, in other departments of
Government. I bring the ones up about DOD because they are fresh
in mind, and we used them yesterday right here when Bill Perry
was in this room.



That may be the bad news, but there is some good news, too. I

want to commend the administration for its efforts in reducing the

budget deficit. The outlook for deficit reduction is probably better

now than it has been in many, many years. It is not just a Demo-
cratic observation. The non-partisan Congressional Budget Office

last week estimated the deficit will shrink from the $255 billion re-

corded in 1993 to around $170 bilHon in 1995, a consequence of the

stronger economy, part of it, and the budget agreement worked out

by Congress and the White House last August. So I see that as par-

ticularly good news.
Now, the deficit problem is not solved. There still is a long way

to go. CBO says that the numbers could start going up again later

in the decade, and that is assuming Congress makes no rnajor

changes in laws affecting mandatory spending. Also, the adminis-

tration needs to make sure that the savings being sought in some
of their new programs, including the personnel buyout bill, which

I know we want to discuss at some length a little later here—

I

know you address that. We want to make sure those have been

fully thought out. Pressure on Government spending and on the

deficit will be strong for some time to come, requiring Congress and
the administration to work closely together on these and many
other issues.

So, Mr. Panetta, we welcome you. I understand Alice Pvivlin is at

another hearing and will be along as soon as she can be here, and
I hope you will be able to share with us the management priorities

of the administration and the NPR so we can all work together in

creating a smaller, more effective Government.
Senator Roth?
Senator ROTH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Panetta, it is always a pleasure to have you here. I believe

that when you appeared nearly a year ago, the President had just

announced the National Performance Review. I applauded that ef-

fort, and I do the same now.
Now, it is clear that NPR has asked many of the right kinds of

questions about how to reinvent Government so that it works bet-

ter and costs less. I think many of the proposed answers found in

the report represent some very good first steps in the right direc-

tion.

I know the President has taken some steps to implement parts

of the NPR recommendations, but real fundamental change in the

organization and operations of the Federal Government in my judg-

ment will require legislation. Enacting such legislation will not be

easy, but I do believe there is a realistic prospect of developing a

bipartisan consensus behind these reforms.

However, I have to say, Mr. Panetta, that this will not happen
if reinventing Government is perceived as fading from the list of

the administration's top priorities. I would urge the President to

keep this on the front burner and at full boil.

I am aware that H.R. 3400, the administration's bill to imple-

ment a number of the NPR proposals, has been referred to our

Committee. I am also aware that the Democrats in the House have

changed some of the provisions, but I am not yet aware of what the

administration wants done with the bill as amended.



As you know, I have been a long-time advocate that the rocky

road to comprehensive Government reform will be smoother if we
created a bipartisan commission. Last year I worked with our

Chairman, Senator Glenn, as well as Senator Lieberman, to de-

velop just such legislation, and which provides a mechanism for ex-

pedited congressional consideration of commission proposals.

I know that you supported such a proposal when you were in the

Congress, but last year you did ask that we hold off on it until

after the NPR. This Committee has reported the bill and it is pend-

ing on the Senate calendar. I would hope the administration will

agree that this commission would be useful in developing further

reforms and expediting their enactment.

I would like to mention a concern I expressed at last week's hear-

ing: the lack of personal accountability for mismanagement in Gov-

ernment. It seems that whenever we discover that something has

gone wrong within an agency or a program, our entire focus is on

fixing that problem. But do we ever ask who should have avoided

that problem in the first place? Do we ever hold accountable any-

one for having permitted a situation to exist that invited trouble.

As I suggested last week, maybe the IG and GAG reports should

identify the most directly responsible official for each problem re-

ported. Perhaps that would instill a little more personal account-

ability in our Government.
Mr. Panetta, another subject of real concern to me are these un-

funded Federal mandates. I spent several hours earlier this week
with the Governors. Now, these unfunded mandates can, frankly,

be thought of as Federal taxes on the State Government because
they require that State and local income be spent on Federal prior-

ities. It really lowers the capability of the States to determine their

own priorities, and that may be one reason law enforcement and
schools are being shortchanged.
As I say, this leads inevitably to the underfunding of State and

local needs by those Governments directly responsible for solving

the problems. I think this is a very serious problem, and it needs
to be addressed. I know the President has issued an Executive
order asking agencies to be more sensitive to the issue, but I do
not think that is the total answer to the problem. It is fine as a
first step, but I think this is something we need to work together

on to resolve.

Now, Mr. Panetta, today the Washington Post reports that the

House will try to amend the emergency disaster relief bill for the

California earthquake with the buyout bill. Now, as you well know,
this Committee reported out the buyout bill last November. It is

ready for consideration before the full Senate now. I think we are

all ready to try to help expedite it.

But given that the disaster relief bill is designated an emergency
and exempt from the budget rules, why should we attach the

buyout bill with a $519 million budget problem to this bill? I know
in the past you have expressed real concern, as others have, that
the emergency waiver should not be used to get other things
through, and I think this raises some very difficult problems if this

is, indeed, the intent.

I might point out that Congressional Budget Office only esti-

mates that the buyout will end up with something like, I think,



29,000 choosing that option. If that is the case, it is no panacea.

But I am concerned about the prospect of trying to use this emer-

gency waiver as a means of bypassing the congressional proce-

dures.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you.

Senator Lieberman?
Senator LlEBERMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Very briefly, just

to welcome Mr. Panetta back again and to thank him for the work
that he has done. This is a real moment of opportunity for a bipar-

tisan effort to make Government work better and to reduce the

budget deficit. And I am very proud of the leadership role that the

Vice President and 0MB have played in that effort.

Clearly, as I believe the Chairman and the ranking minority

member on the Committee have indicated in general terms, there

is always the danger that we will sort of be prepared to pick the

fruit before we grow the tree, that we will be prepared to take the

credit and then go on. And this is where there is a requirement for

a sustained effort in the trenches, and it is obviously critically nec-

essary because then no one can say that our Government is func-

tioning as efficiently as we want it to or working as well as we
want it to. And no one can say, as pleased as we all are by the re-

ductions in the budget deficit that are occurring, that they have
gone far enough.

I was home over the weekend and was asked the question in a
group about the budget deficit, and I began to probably seem a lit-

tle bit too proud of the fact that the deficit projection for fiscal year
1995 was going to be coming in around $180 billion. And when I

said that, the guy who asked me the question started to laugh.

"Oh, only $180 bilhon?"
Well, you know, he is right. We have got a long way to go,

though we are moving in the right direction, and that is going to

require the kind of effort that I believe this Committee is prepared
to play on a bipartisan basis with you in the trench-warfare work
of procurement reform and budget reform and civil service reform.

And I look forward to your testimony today to give us some guid-

ance on what you would like to see us do in that regard.

H.R. 3400 is over here. It does include some of the reinventing
Government work that the NPR has done. It has added some re-

scission work. As the Director of 0MB knows, I am part of a group
of Senators, Kerrey and Brown and others, who are working on fur-

ther rescissions. I hope that we can move 3400 as an appropriate
vehicle for both reinventing Government and for additional cuts in

Government spending so that we can get ourselves to where we
want to be, which is to a Government that is, one, working and,

two, in balance. And you are the right person at 0MB to help us
do that, so thanks for coming back.

Chairman Glenn. Thank you.
Senator Cohen?
Senator Cohen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
To follow the metaphor, I think that the three previous speakers

have picked all the fruit and have left me to try and plant a tree.

And as Mr. Panetta knows, it takes years to plant and grow a tree,

and almost as long for me to deliver my prepared remarks, so I will



not do that. But I will simply point out that a number of Senators

and other citizens have been talking about fraud, waste, and abuse,

repeating it like a mantra week after week. Today, we hold up an-

other example: The Army erroneously pays out $100 million to per-

sonnel who no longer are on active duty. Several years ago, this

Committee highlighted an article about the Air Force saying the

Air Force spends $600 for a toilet seat.

The IRS, as Senator Glenn has pointed out, is failing to collect

billions of dollars in delinquent taxes because they do not have ade-

quate computer capability.

It really comes down to the fact that there are too many exam-
ples. Senator Proxmire used to have the Golden Fleece Award. He
would make great news once a month holding up another example
of Government waste, all of which tends to turn the public very

sour toward its Government, and with the belief, I think—as Sen-
ator Glenn pointed out, many people believe that as much as 41
percent or 41 cents on every dollar is wasted.

Until we really restructure the way in which the Government is

managed, we are going to continue to simply come up here and
hold sheets up and offer another example. And pretty soon people
are going to say, what are you guys doing to prevent these exam-
ples from occuring? Why is it you Senators have been there all this

time and you still continue to have fraud, waste, and abuse?
I think the effort that you have undertaken, the legislation that

Senator Roth offered and I consponsored last year was very aggres-
sive in dealing with Government performance and results. The key
to good management is to require Federal managers to set forth

clear objectives, to justify their budgets based upon measurable
progress, and ultimately hold them accountable.

I guess some in the executive branch would wish that Congress
might hold up a mirror and say we would like to see the same sort

of accountability held to you as well. Members of Congress, and the
same sort of discipline imposed upon congressional schedules. I say
this by way of a preface to the fact I am going to depart in a mo-
ment to go to another hearing, and that is part of the Congres-
sional story. As you know, those who serve on Capitol Hill are
spread so thinly that we have trouble measuring performance and
justifying our own budgets.

But, Mr. Panetta, I have a great deal of faith in you. We came
to the Congress nearly at the same time, and you have enormous
support on the Hill on both sides, Republicans as well as Demo-
crats, and we commend you for the effort you have undertaken to

improve government management.

Prepared Statement of Senator Cohen

Mr. Chairman, thank you for calUng today's hearing, providing us with the oppor-
tunity to meet with Mr. Panetta and Dr. Rivhn and discuss Federal management
issues from the perspective of the Office of Management and Budget.
The Committee is fortunate to have the attention and interest of many people di-

rected toward this hearing, in no small part thanks to the spotlight focused on man-
agement issues by the National Performance Review effort conducted by Vice-Presi-
dent Gore. Members of this committee have labored long and hard to address a wide
range of shortcomings in how our Federal Government is managed, shortcomings
that result in inefficient operations and wasteful expenditures of taxpayer dollars.
Calling attention to these problems has proven difficult in the past. They are com-
plicated and hard to resolve, and the issues are not easily explained in the kind of
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quick soundbites that lend themselves to the newspaper's front-page, or the nightly

television news broadcast.

If you look behind each day's attention-grabbing headlines, however, you will find

that these so-called "management" issues are the real story. We all hear about the

latest revelation of waste or abuse, and we express outrage that it occurred. Wheth-

er it's a report that the Internal Revenue Service is unable to estimate and collect

billions of dollars in delinquent taxes it is owed; or the disclosure that the Army
is paying millions in active duty pay to people who have left the Army; or official

estimates that the Federal Government loses $100 million annually by making so-

cial program payments to individuals who are not entitled to benefits—each one of

these stories grabs our attention. What we fail to notice or acknowledge, however,

is that many of these problems are merely symptoms of an underlying, much bigger

problem.
The NPR report underlines what we have known for a long time: we desperately

need to restructure our Federal Government and implement effective, modem man-
agement systems. This will give managers the control they need to do their jobs

well, and will allow us to hold them accountable for their results if they fall short.

Without accountability, the hit parade of government waste will continue

undiminished.
I am proud to have co-sponsored legislation during this and the previous Congress

which I believe will put Federal managers on the right track. This legislation pro-

vides for the establishment of strategic planning and performance measurement in

the Federal Government. The Government Performance and Results Act was finally

enacted and signed into law last summer, and I commend my distinguished col-

league. Senator Roth, for his leadership in bringing it to fruition.

When the Government Performance and Results Act has been fully implemented,

I expect we will be a much better position here at the Committee to discharge our

oversight responsibilities. We all know the frustrations and limitations of holding

hearings on the perennial problems that recur over and over, like wasteful Federal

building projects, or chaotic inventory control systems. Until we can hold Federal

managers accountable, we can only legislate ad hoc solutions, which do not prevent

recurrences elsewhere in the system. Requiring Federal managers to clearly set

forth their objectives, establish baselines and justify budgets on the basis of measur-

able progress against those objectives should help make available to us the informa-

tion we need to evaluate the programs involved.

Other initiatives Director Panetta will discuss here today could also make a big

difference in our ability to improve the management of the Federal Government. Es-

tablishment of reliable, meaningful financial reporting systems throughout govern-

ment will not only assist managers in their efforts to direct scarce resources most
efficiently; it should also yield the kind of information Congress needs to gauge the

relative financial condition of every agency or revolving fund which produces an au-

dited statement.
I understand that Mr. Panetta will also address the need for procurement reform.

I have expressed my conviction many times over the years that we must cut the

red tape and cumbersome paperwork requirements which typify the way our govern-

ment buys goods and services. To that end, as my colleagues here know, several

months ago I joined a group of bi-partisan Senators from the Armed Services and
Governmental Affairs Committees, to develop a reform package that would be ac-

ceptable to members on both sides of the aisle. Although that legislation ultimately

was modified in ways I found unacceptable, I am continuing my efforts with other

colleagues, and hope we will have a complementary bill ready for introduction soon.

I look forward to hearing from Mr. Panetta on these and other issues, today.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Glenn. Senator Dorgan?
Senator DORGAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Panetta, welcome. I also have to go to the Commerce Com-

mittee in about 2 minutes, but I am going to be back in about 15

minutes because I have a number of questions. I have read your

statement so I will not miss your statement while I am gone. I

have some questions about if we are going to reduce the Federal

workforce by 252,000 people, maybe we can not build a few Federal

buildings that are being projected, and I would hke your assist-

ance. And I think Senator Cohen would also like your assistance



in that venture. I will have some questions about buyouts, and I

have some questions about accountability that Senator Roth raised.

We have raised the question before. A $27 million building was
built down in Norfolk, and at the ribbon cutting—it was built for

a specific purpose for the Navy. The ribbon cutting was 2 weeks
after a decision had been made that it will not be used for the pur-

pose for which it was built. I have been trying to figure out who
is accountable. Who made that decision? It is really hard to find

accountability.

I look forward to your statement. I will be gone for just a few

minutes, and then back, and I hope we can engage in a discussion

about those items. Thank you very much.
Chairman Glenn. Thank you. Thank you. Senator Dorgan.

Mr. Panetta, I look forward to your statement.

TESTIMONY OF HON. LEON PANETTA, DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF
MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET, ACCOMPANIED BY ALICE M.
RIVLIN, DEPUTY DIRECTOR
Mr. Panetta. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much, Senator Roth

and members of the Committee. I am always pleased to have the

opportunity to come before this hearing, and I also want to express

my thanks to the Chairman in particular for rescheduling this

hearing because of White House business that I had to attend to

yesterday morning.
I am here obviously to discuss the management agenda, and

more specifically to address some of the urgent next steps that we
are looking at in terms of our legislative agenda.

Alice Rivlin, my Deputy, will be joining me. She is now speaking
to the Rules Committee, Senate Rules Committee, but she will be
down to join me.

I also have Sally Katzen with me, who is head of OIRA, as well

as Steve Kelman, who is head of my procurement operation. We
have also representatives here from financial management as well

at 0MB.
Let me speak about the budget that is going to be coming out be-

cause I do not think you can separate the budget from the manage-
ment implementations that we have been trying to do in the ad-

ministration. The budget that is going to be coming out Monday is,

as the President stated in the State of the Union, a very tough
budget. With regards to discretionary spending, it is probably one
of the toughest budgets that an administration has presented to

the Congress in recent years, largely because we have to abide by
a hard freeze over these next 5 years. What we spent in 1993 is

what we are going to have to spend in 1994, 1995, 1996, 1997, and
1998. And that is the kind of constraint that we have never seen
before. This is not a question of even allowing for inflation in-

creases. This is a question of holding spending at a set cap.

That is a tremendous challenge. It is tough. Obviously, neither
departments nor probably many Members of the Congress will like

some of the choices that we are going to have to make in this budg-
et. But it does give us the opportunity to set some real strong prior-

ities, I think, in the future. If we feel that there are certain areas
that deserve additional expenditures, we have got to cut it else-

where. And we can use it also as an opportunity, it seems to me,
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not only to get rid of non-priority programs, to reduce them—and,

incidentally, there are over 100 programs in here that are termi-

nated. In the budget that we will present, there are almost 600

programs that are either cut below the 1994 level or frozen; 7 of

14 departments will have less to spend than what they had in

1994. And we are also looking at, obviously, proposing the in excess

of 100,000 reduction in Federal employees as part of the budget

that will implement at least the first step of the 252,000 that we
will eliminate over the next 5 years.

So there will be, as I said, some very tough decisions here. We
have managed to make use of a great deal of what the National

Performance Review has proposed, because many of those sugges-

tions are essentially good suggestions not only to improve manage-
ment but to also achieve savings. And I would wager to say that

very close to 90 percent of the various recommendations of the

NPR will be contained in the budget proposals that we will be sub-

mitting to the Congress on Monday.
I would also let you know that while there is a debate on the

House side as to whether or not they ought to implement Penny-

Kasich, the fact is with regards to the savings in Penny-Kasich, the

reahty is that almost 70 to 80 percent of those savings are being

proposed by this administration, either in terms of the health care

savings that are part of Penny-Kasich, or the personnel cuts, which
are also part of Penny-Kasich, which we also have in the budget,

as well as many of the discretionary savings proposals that they

are proposing. The difference is this: that if they decide they want
to pass that now and cut the cap by another $10 billion, we are

going to have to find another $10 billion. Because many of those

proposals are in our budget, we are going to have to find another

$10 billion in cuts, either from defense or someplace else, in order

to match that.

So I guess I would ask members to take a look at the budget that

is coming out Monday in terms of its toughness and the steps that

have to be taken before members start jumping for additional cuts

that are going to be largely included in the proposals that we are

submitting to the Congress.
The management proposals are very important to us because

they give us the opportunity at the same time that we are reducing

spending to make Government work better. That is the combina-
tion you absolutely have to have.
As I mentioned at the hearing when I first appeared before this

Committee, our objective is basically to restore the public's trust in

Government, which, as all of us know, is not at the greatest height

for a lot of reasons. But we cannot implement the kind of cuts that

we want to cut in terms of the budget, the kind of reforms that we
want to implement, we cannot implement the kind of management
changes that we need to implement unless we have the public's

trust, in our will and in our courage to try to do the right thing,

to give citizens and taxpayers more value for their dollar. And that

is what we are trying to do.

The Vice President's national Performance said it best of all,

which is that we want to have a Government that works better and
costs less. And I think those two goals can be achieved simulta-

neously.
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This Committee has provided tremendous leadership towards
these ends. You have been pushing on this issue for a long time,

evidenced by the legislation you have passed: the Chief Financial

Officers Act, the Government Performance and Results Act, the

kind of constant attention you have paid to improving manage-
ment.
And I have to tell you that your work in this area is paying off,

and it is pajdng off, to a large extent, in what I think is very

unique leadership by the administration with regards to manage-
ment issues. We have not seen in the recent past a President and
Vice President of the United States say to the country that one of

our major priorities is changing the way Government operates. And
that is what the National Performance Review was all about.

We have never seen that kind of issue highlighted as much as

in the past, because the President and the Vice President both
deeply share your concerns about the need to improve manage-
ment.
This administration has attracted Nationwide attention to these

issues, and it is giving impetus to the implementation of rec-

ommendations that have been sitting on the shelves for a long time
with regards to improving Government.

I think our disciplined budgeting process has placed a new em-
phasis—it has to. It has to. We are not just going to cut and slash
programs. We are trying to do it in a way that improves program
management, that allows an agency to streamline in an effective

way, and that really drives the kind of management issues that
have to be faced by departments and agencies on a day-to-day
basis. They have got to make these decisions. They have got to ask
themselves the question: How do we improve the way we operate?
And they are, across the board. Every Secretary, every agency head
is doing that.

It is not going to be solved overnight. This is not, obviously,
something that can be changed in a few days or a few months. It

has taken years to develop the problems that we see in Govern-
ment today, but we can turn it around, just as we did with the defi-

cit. I think the fact is we have reversed the path of the deficit right
now. What were 300, 400, 500, 600 bilhon dollar annual deficits,

we are now beginning to drive down to the point where in 1995 we
are looking at somewhere between a $170 and $176 billion deficit,

and it is going to go down lower.
There is more to be done. We have got to do health care reform.

We have got to do some work on the entitlements. We have got to

do a continuing effort to stay on track. But we have shown that
through a little courage and a little leadership around here, we can
get it done. And a lot of that, I think, has been helped by the kind
of leadership you have provided in this Committee.

I have got to tell you that 0MB has been a whirlwind of activity
with regards to the management changes. We are doing a lot of
work, as you know, on procurement reform, working with this
Committee, working with the NPR to try to resolve those issues.
And I am very confident. We are building procurement reform into
the budget. We think it is important. We think everybody has got
to do it. That is a major initiative.
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The personnel reform proposals that have gone forward to the

President from the National Partnership Council, those are major

reforms in terms of personnel changes.

Regulatory reform from the Office of Information and Regulatory

Affairs, I really believe that Sally Katzen has done an outstanding

job estabUshing credibiHty for that operation. We have really got-

ten a hold of the regulatory process. Not to say that there are not

going to be controversies, there are. It is the nature of the business.

But the fact is that we do not waste a lot of time on non-controver-

sial regulations. We are focusing on the main problems, and we are

doing, I think, an outstanding job of trying to pull the agencies to-

gether so they resolve these differences rather than simply having

them bounce around between 0MB and the different agencies.

We are developing a national information infrastructure, as you

know, something that the Vice President has provided tremendous

leadership on. We need to have it at the Federal level. And we are

also implementing financial management infrastructure through

the Financial Management Act of 1993, and we are trying to imple-

ment a lot of that within H.R. 3400.

I know you shared some concerns—and I respect the concerns

—

in your December 9th letter to the President with regards to the

urgency of filling OMB's Deputy Director for Management slot, and

I share that concern. I regret that we had really what I think was
an outstanding individual in that position with Phil Lader, and he

was doing a tremendous job pulling it together, working with NPR,
working through the management savings. He was really pulhng

that operation together. Unfortunately, as these things go, when a

person does an outstanding job, it does not take long before they

start to move out and over or up or what have you, and that is

what happened here. He went to the White House and is now
working as Deputy Chief of Staff—which does not hurt us that bad,

very frankly, because we now have somebody who is in the White

House at the highest levels who understands the importance of

management issues. And so Phil's presence there is particularly

important to us, not only because he knows 0MB and knows the

management issues but because he can bring that policy consider-

ation to the highest levels at the White House. But at the same
time, we were worry to lose his leadership and his wisdom and his

energy.
Alice and I both are working very hard on reviewing names for

nomination and recommendation to the President. I hope to do that

within the next week. Alice has been taking on double duty. She

has been doing an outstanding job in covering those bases. She is

heading up the Management Council. She is basically covering the

issues on the management side. She knows those issues by virtue

of her own background, so she has been doing a great job covering

it. But we also want to have somebody in that position, and we are

working very hard to fill that as soon as we can. That position, to

some extent, needs to be filled before we can fill the financial man-
agement position, because we think the Comptroller's position—to

some extent, we want to have somebody in the Deputy slot so that

we can then fill the next slot, although we do have a series of

names that we have been looking at with regards to the Comptrol-
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ler's position, and I intend to pass those on to the next person in

the Deputy slot.
. i i .• • ,,• .u 4-

Let me mention, if I can, two pressmg legislative priorities that

we think are extremely important. Senator Roth has raised this

issue with regards to the buyout. Let me explain what we are try-

ing to do on that issue, because I share some of the concerns that

you raised, and we have been working to try to resolve that.

Obviously, as you know, when you are pushing to get a reduction

and a streamlining of 252,000 Federal employees, it is probably the

largest streamlining we have seen in this country. It is a 12 per-

cent reduction in our workforce. If you want to do it right as op-

posed to this kind of crazy RIF'ing process where you suddenly say,

you know, we are going to get rid of so many employees, and then

the employees who have seniority can bump other people, and they

bump other people, and by the time you are through with it, you

have gotten rid of exactly the wrong people in terms of trying to

improve your operation. RIF'ing is not a good way to do it. It is not

only expensive, it not only costs you a lot more money, but it is a
lousy way to do management.

If you really want to improve the way you reduce the Federal

employees, you have got to be able to do it by targeting. What are

the positions you want to move out? The problem right now is that

most of the attrition takes place at the lower levels. GS-14's in

1992, the attrition rate there was about 3 percent, while the rate

for GS-3's was 11 percent. So what we are trying to do is to target

kind of that middle-level management area where we need to move
out some dead weight, very frankly. And to do it and to do it in

a targeted way, everybody understands that the best way to do

that is with the ability to try to use this buyout proposal. That is

basically what has been used in the private sector. Seventy-nine of

the Fortune 100 companies, about 4 out of 5, have used buyouts

to downsize because it makes sense. Buyouts I think reduce the

need for inefficient RIF's, as I have said. That is a bad way to do

business. We have seen DOD, the CIA, and others make use of the

buyouts. DOD has done an outstanding job trying to minimize

RIF's.

The average buyout in the private sector, just to give you an
idea, is about $44,600, 44 percent higher than the maximum
$25,000 that we are proposing in the legislation.

Civilian agencies simply are seeking the tool, the same kind of

tool that is used in most of the private sector, that the Defense De-

partment used, that NASA wants to use, that the CIA is using, and
we want to be able to provide that opportunity to all of them. Be-

cause, frankly, it is the best way to give us the opportunity to meet
what are very tough FTE targets. This is going to be tough. It is

not going to be easy. And we need as many tools as we can for that

purpose.
Now, vdth regards to the buyout proposal itself, again, 0MB and

CBO—it is always the scorekeeping game that I run into almost

every other day in this business, and it all depends on what posi-

tion you are at in the field as to how you call where the ball is

headed. And you can look at these things differently, although CBO
and 0MB do agree that obviously the net reduction of 252,000 em-
ployees is going to save the Government money. There is not much
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question about that. We agree that the up-front costs of the
buyouts to 'get those reductions are going to be fully offset by salary

savings in a short period of time. But we do have that problem
with regards to CBO's scoring the up-front costs as being the cost.

Let me tell you what we are trying to do. We are trying to work
out an approach on the House side that will have us develop a way
to pay for the $518 million cost that CBO estimates. I guess 519
is the cost. We are now negotiating with Congressman Hoyer as
well as the Post Office Committee on the House side, as well as the
Appropriations Committee, as well as the minority. Minority Lead-
er Michel is part of that negotiation. And our hope is that if there
is agreement as to how this is paid for, that we can add it as paid
for to the supplemental so that it can move on that kind of fast

track.

If we do not get agreement, then obviously that will not be the
case.

Senator RoTH. Would you yield for a question?
Mr. Panetta. Sure.
Senator ROTH. If I understand what you are saying, then you are

not going to use the emergency procedures as a way around?
Mr. Panetta. No. That is correct.

Senator RoTH. But you said you are
Mr. Panetta. That is correct. We are going to pay for the buyout,

and we are not going to call it an emergency.
Senator Roth. Now, as I said in my earlier remarks, my under-

standing is that CBO takes the position that the buyout will only
result in an additional 29,000 employees leaving the Government
over what would otherwise retire anyway. Do you agree with that
figure?

Mr. Panetta. We think that each of the agencies can do better
as soon as they get the buyout. The problem is, frankly, we do not
have a very good track record with regards to these other depart-
ments. We know what the Defense Department did with the
buyout. We do not have a very good record as to what the other
departments are going to be.

We do know that each of the departments feels that they can
minimize the RIF's a lot more if they have this tool available to

them, but to be honest, I cannot give you a strong number as to

what we think is going to happen.
Senator Roth. If CBO is correct, then it is a pretty expensive

procedure for that limited number.
Mr. Panetta. Yes. Again, just as we had some concerns with

CBO's scoring the up-front costs on this thing, knowing that in the
end it would save money, we think that they are being much more
pessimistic about our ability to get additional buyouts.
We have had inquiries. I will tell you this: that the longer we

delay on this, the less likely it is that buyouts will work because,
you know, individuals have to make these decisions pretty early on.

If this thing gets delayed much longer, then we are in a very dif-

ficult position where we think four or five agencies are absolutely
going to have to face RIF's. So, you know, it is a tool that we think
just is one we have got to include. It worked for the Defense De-
partment very well. It worked for these other agencies, and we



15

think it can work for the other departments that are going to face

some very tough decisions with regards to FTE reductions.

In the end, we would hope that if we can work out a way to pay

for this on the House side and it can be adopted, that we can move

it expeditiously as well here on the Senate side.

Let me talk about procurement reform. As you know, we are

deeply committed. The Vice President has been leading this effort

to try to pass procurement reform. It has been talked about for a

long time around here, and for one reason or another, it always

winds up getting bottled up for one reason or another because

there are elements of this that are controversial. But the Federal

Acquisition Streamlining Act which was unveiled by the President

I think is exactly the kind of effort that we have got to implement

to try to get rid of the waste and the inefficiency that we see now
in the procurement process.

All of you know it. I do not have to go through the explanation

of why this is essential. We have all seen it. You have worked on

it before. It is absolutely essential that we try to work together in

a bipartisan way to get this procurement reform done.

My understanding is that there are negotiations that are con-

tinuing to go on. There is a lot of give and take here, as there

should be in any kind of tough negotiation. But the last report I

got is that it is headed in the right direction and that hopefully we
can see action on it soon in both the House as well as the Senate.

The Paperwork Reduction Act and H.R. 3400, let me say a few
words about those two other pieces of pending legislation that are

important to our agenda. The financial management provisions

within 3400, which cleared the House in the last session, and the

reauthorization of the Paperwork Act are two areas that we think

have to move forward.
Our financial management proposals target electronic Govern-

ment in the sense that we are trying to move this Government into

the next century. We are trying to move it, as a matter of fact, as

somebody said, just into the 20th century in many ways in terms
of how they deal with electronic technology. But we would like to

try to put it on a path towards moving into the next century, and
to do that we have got to improve these management systems. We
have got to streamline the financial reporting process to 0MB and
the Congress. We have got to give agencies more tools and incen-

tives to collect more of the money that is owed to the Federal Gov-
ernment.
Mr. Chairman, you are exactly right. In most instances, we do

a lousy job of collections, not just the IRS. It is across the board.

And the purpose here is to try to provide some incentives for better

collections so that, in fact, if they go out and collect the money, we
are going to be able to provide some impetus, some incentives to

these agencies, to be able to do that. It increases accountability to

the Congress and to the public. It extends the financial statement
audit requirements to all agency operations in 23 CFO Act agen-
cies. And I think it is following the successful agency-wide pilots

that I reported to you on last November.
Let me stress the importance of passage of the printing policy

provisions in Title XIV of 3400, which would permit the executive

branch agencies to procure printing in the same manner as any
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other good or service. As a matter of fact, that is what Alice is tes-

tifying about right now. That is another example of the kind of effi-

ciency.

Chairman Glenn. She is right behind you.

Ms. RIVLIN. I thought I was still at the same hearing.

Mr. Panetta. She looks unscarred.
In addition, I want to urge the reauthorization of appropriations

for the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs and the

strengthening of the Paperwork Reduction Act. That act provides

a framework for managing the Federal Government's collections

and use and dissemination of information and the associated infor-

mation technology that I spoke about.

We support legislation that is consistent with the act's original

goals, and we would like to see it updated and expanded to try to

achieve the following general principles:

One, that each agency be responsible for minimizing the burdens
it imposes upon the public in collecting information. That is impor-
tant, and we try to stress that, as a matter of fact, in the context

even of our budget that we are submitting on Monday.
Two, that each agency be responsible for managing its informa-

tion resources, that we start to make them responsible for ensuring
that the information they collect they properly manage. I think
both S. 560 and S. 681 are consistent and promote these principles,

and we want to work with you to try to push this legislation

through.
Let me turn, if I can, as briefly as I can, to the rest of our man-

agement agenda and what we are pursuing with regards to other
areas. As I said, we have a sustained commitment to these efforts.

We have got a huge agenda that we are working with, but every
one of these things is important in terms of the budget and in

terms of better management. It is important to both of those goals.

The President's Management Council is a very serious—this was
created as one of the recommendations of the National Performance
Review. Alice currently chairs that. Phil Lader, as Deputy of Man-
agement, was chairing that, and now Alice is chairing that in his

stead. The PMC is composed of the operating officers at the highest
levels. These are the Deputy Secretaries at each of the departments
who are designated their chief operating officers. So you have got
the chief operating officers working in the Management Council,
and they are working hard. As a matter of fact, their first effort

was to kind of focus on the whole FTE reduction, the buyout legis-

lation. They meet for 3 or 4 hours at a time, as Alice will confirm,

just at a meeting the other day. They are, I think, setting a good
tone for getting each of the agencies to work together on manage-
ment issues.

0MB officials are leading a number of interagency task forces in

information resources management, electronic benefits transfer,

electronic commerce, just to name a few. So that just to restore any
kind of concern—or try to deal with any kind of concern you might
have with regards to NPR, the fact is we are working very closely

with the NPR recommendations, but 0MB essentially is the operat-

ing office in terms of heading up these efforts. We have got a part-

nership worked out with that proposal, but we are, in fact, the lead
agency with regards to implementing these changes that they have
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recommended, aind you ought not to be concerned that somehow
there is a problem there. We really have worked out that relation-

ship pretty well.

Let me highlight some of the things we are working on, both
with regards to accountability for results, improved performance in

terms of changing incentives, and trying to improve, as I said, the
service and efficiency by capitalizing on information technology.
On accountability for results, the Government Performance and

Results Act, I want to tell you that the legislation that you put in

place is giving us a great opportunity to focus on performance
standards for each of these agencies. We thought that, as you
know, we would have just a few pilot projects. The legislation itself

basically required the 10 agencies to establish pilots and set per-
formance goals.

As you saw in the Washington Post this morning and as we con-
firmed earlier this week, we have designated not 10 but 53 pilots
in 21 agencies, and we expect to add more this spring. It is cover-
ing about 375,000 Federal employees, $48 billion in operating
budgets. The pilots include the Forest Service, the IRS, the FBI's
Organized Crime and Drug Program, and a number of other agen-
cies.

I have got to tell you this is an extremely important effort here
because, for the first time, we are getting agencies to basically start
to set down what are the performance standards they want to es-
tablish for each of their agencies. Your legislation has been very
helpful in giving us the tool we need to drive performance stand-
ards in the Federal Government, and we are moving this as quickly
as we can because, frankly, we want to try to implement those
standards earlier rather than later. We do not want to just wait
for the time line in the legislation. We want to try to push it as
quickly as we can.

Senator Roth. Mr. Chairman, could I just interrupt a moment?
Mr. Panetta. Sure.
Senator Roth. Because, as the author of that particular piece of

legislation, I want to congratulate the administration for the num-
ber of pilot programs they are pushing forward. Mr. Panetta is ab-
solutely right. It has gone beyond what was required under the leg-
islation. It is my understanding they intend to act further.

I think this is an excellent illustration, Mr. Chairman, of how the
congressional Committee and the executive branch. Republicans
and Democrats, can work together in this area of reform and re-
structuring. I just want to pay my personal thanks to your support
and interest in implementing what I think, as you have said, is the
core of reinventing Government.
Mr. Panetta. It is a very good proposal, let me say, just from

the point of view of for the first time asking agencies, Tell us what
your goals are. How are you going to measure how you are dehver-
ing services to people, so that we can justify you in terms of the
budget? It is a good one-two.

Financial reporting, as you know, we have got to have account-
ability, and financial reporting requires that Government agencies
show us how well they are achieving expected results and tell the
taxpayers how their dollars are being spent. The NPR rec-
ommended and the administration is planning the issuance of an
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audited consolidated annual report on Federal finances by 1997.

We have initiated a system, as you know, in 1993 to report publicly

the status of financial management in the 23 agencies covered by

the CFO Act. For fiscal year 1992, 94 reporting entities submitted

audited financial statements, covering about $875 billion of gross

budget authority; 36 were determined by independent audit to be

in conformity with prescribed accounting standards—36.

This is a marked increase—still not good enough, obviously, but

at least we are beginning to move in the right direction. In 1991,

when we did this the first time, 55 reporting entities submitted au-

dited financial statements, and only 19 were determined to be in

conformity at that time. We are pushing on this. As a matter of

fact, for the first time we have gotten agencies that, when we score

their financial accountability, they are starting to question why
they got a certain score, which is good, because then we can sit

down with them and basically walk through it with them.

To maintain that momentum, we have extended the pilot pro-

gram for organization-wide audited financial statements through

1995, and to improve the usefulness of financial information, we
have accelerated the due date for audited financial statements to

March 1 of each year. We have also made a major commitment to

provide training on financial reporting that will provide rehable

and useful information to adopt appropriate accounting principles,

to control requirements to assure adherence to those principles,

and to audit techniques that we have to implement in the Federal

Government and that we should have implemented a long time

ago.
The Inspector General Auditor Training Institute is also provid-

ing training to the Federal audit community in these same areas.

There is an awful lot, as I said, to be done here, but I think we
are at least on the right path. We are going to push hard in this

area.

We have also tried to continue the high-risk program, attracting

attention to those high-risk areas where we think we need to not

only identify for the taxpayers but also to identify approaches to

correcting those and to implementing the kind of changes that need

to take place with regards to many of these high-risk areas.

Credit and debt collection performance contracts, we are trying

to move towards accountability, again, for results. 0MB and the

major credit agencies are developing agreements for credit manage-
ment and debt collection activities, and these contracts will lay out

agency commitments for the achievement of collection and default

goals for the next 12 to 18 months. We want them to put down
their goals on paper so we can hold them to these contracts.

Performance-based contracting, this is another area where I

think we have made some very good progress with regards to try-

ing to deal with the whole contracting-out issue. The Office of Fed-

eral Procurement Policy believes that the shift towards will re-

duce—in other words, we are trying to reduce cost overruns and
the kind of performance problems typical of Government service

contracts by focusing on results. What kind of results are they pro-

ducing in these contracts?

We are envisioning a shift towards fixed-price service contracts

which I think gives contractors greater incentive to be innovative
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by virtue of doing that. And this is another area where I think we
have made very good progress.

With regards to incentives for improving performance, we have
now implemented past performance, looked at—it was amazing to

me that we never looked at past performance when we were deal-

ing with contractors. And for the first time, we have said, as we
announced last week, that nearly all of the Federal agencies have
pledged to make past performance a major factor in the source
evaluation of a number of specific contracts that are going to com-
pete this year. I mean, it is nuts for us not to—if a contractor has
done a lousy job in the past, why isn't that a consideration in terms
of how we make judgments on these issues for the future? Over
$2.6 billion in estimated contract awards are going to be involved
in this effort, and we are going to do more in this area.

We are moving from rigid rules to guiding principles in procure-
ment. We have provided guidance to Federal procurement officials

that they should not require 1,600 pages of Government-wide regu-
lations and 2,900 more pages of agency-specific supplements. We
are trjdng to streamline that process. We can do a lot of this ad-
ministratively, and we are.

We are providing incentives to try to, again, remove the barriers
for collecting debt, and I talked a little bit about those as a part
ofH.R. 3400.
We are improving the service and efficiency by capitalizing on

current information technology. This is a real thrust for us. We are
making payments. We are trying to get the Government to move
towards electronic payments. There is no reason why we should not
be able to do that. The Federal Government interacts financially
with taxpayers in scores of ways, from collecting taxes to paying
Social Security, other benefits, to paying vendors for goods and
services. The first step which is in H.R. 3400 will be to pay busi-
nesses with Federal contracts. State and local Governments, Fed-
eral employees, and retirees with electronic funds transfer.

In addition, work is under way to determine how a regional pro-
totype might begin delivering multistate and multiprogram benefits
to welfare and child support recipients electronically by early 1996.
States have begun or are about to begin these electronic benefit
transfer efforts, and they are going to be encouraged to continue in
that effort so that we can coordinate them with our Federal EBT
effort.

Electronic commerce, the electronic exchange of procurement in-
formation, such as solicitations, offers, invoices, will help simplify
and reduce the cost of Government contracting by increasing com-
petition and accessibihty to over 300,000 vendors, especially small
business owners. That I think is also going to help us in terms of
getting better competition with regards to contracting out.
Automated screening of loan applicants for creditworthiness:

clearly, persons who have previously defaulted on Government
loans are a high risk to again default, and we need to have better
information on those who have, in fact, done that. We are looking
at—the loan origination area has been approved. The Department
of HUD, as a matter of fact, has computerized its system for
screening loan applicants for defaults on previous HUD loans. That
is the kind of thing we want to be able to do on delinquent and
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defaulted debts at Agriculture, Education, Veterans, and Small

Business. j ttt u- i

We have improved financial systems, as we have said. We thmk
they are critical to establishing better accountability. We have a

best-practices project for managing information technology. We are

working with GAO on this to try to establish that kind of approach

to bring Government services and information to the pubhc when
it is convenient for them, not only when it is convenient for the

Government. And we want to share information electronically.

A number of Federal agencies are using information technology

to improve their information sharing within Government. One ex-

ample of that is the Customs Service and Food Administration,

which is sharing information electronically to expedite low-risk

shipments and allow FDA inspectors to focus on more risky cargos.

Lastly, on electronic availability of Government information, we
have engaged in the development of electronic Government infor-

mation locator system, and later this year it will operate as a direc-

tory to Government information directories and eventually provide

a direct link to underlying electronic data bases.

So it is a big agenda we are working on, Mr. Chairman. There

is obviously a lot of other things we are trying to do, but I think

as you can see, we are, this administration is, fully committed to

the importance of ensuring accountability, technology, and provid-

ing appropriate incentives to better manage Government. And I in-

tend to push on that as hard as I can, because I have to tell you,

if we are facing the kind of budget constraints we are facing, this

is the way to improve management and achieve savings and make
Government work better for the American people. And that is real-

ly what this is all about.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman GLENN. Thank you very much.
Ms. Rivlin, do you have any comments you want to make before

we go to questions?
Ms. Rivlin. No, I do not think so. Sorry to be late, but I am de-

lighted to be here.

Chairman Glenn. We understand you are doing double duty

here this morning. We will follow our usual early-bird rule and 6

minutes on the round since there are several members here this

morning.
Mr. Panetta, let me come back to the buyout because that is

front and center and has some priority in the administration, I

know. If you had your choice between going the buyout route or

changing some of our bump legislation on civil service rules, would
that be an option that you might go for, or is that something that

is so difficult and politically charged that it would be difficult to get

that through and so we would be thwarting what we are trying to

accomplish here?
Mr. Panetta. Well, we are on a fast track right now with re-

gards to the 252,000. As I said, the budget is going to require that

100,000 employees be reduced by the end of fiscal year 1995, and
in order to meet that target, these agencies have to start now.
Chairman GLENN. Can you tell us how your negotiations are

coming on this pay-go issue? While it has been voted out over in

the House, it is not on the floor. It has been voted out of this Com-
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mittee. Even though we still had some questions, we wanted to get

it out and get it going because it was a priority item and finish de-

bate on the floor if any questions had to be answered there. But

the leadership on neither side of the Capitol wants to deal with

this unless we solve the pay-go problem first.

Mr. Panetta. That is right.

Chairman GLENN. Because it is subject to a point of order on the

floor. That would stop things in its tracks, and so I think you have

to solve that one before we can do anything with it.

Mr. Panetta. We are fully aware of that problem, as I am on

every other piece of legislation that we deal with in terms of the

potential for a point of order. And the way we are designing it with

regards to this compromise, it is being designed specifically so that

it will not be subject to a point of order on the Senate side. That

means it has got to be paid for, and obviously if it is paid for, it

will not be subject to a point of order.

Chairman Glenn. OK. Some of the people have indicated that

because some of these buyout proposals worked pretty well over in

the Defense Department that they will automatically work across

Government. Have you run any surveys to determine how many
13's, 14's, and 15's would actually accept this so we will know a lit-

tle bit more about it? Everyone knew Defense was scaling down.

That is going to include civilians as well as others. There is not

quite that same situation with regard to all the other agencies of

Government.
What gives us the confidence level that this thing will really

work and we will not wind up with RIF's anyway? Or is the threat

of RIF's enough to force this to be a good program?
Mr. Panetta. Let me ask Alice to address that question, if I can,

because the Management Council has been focusing specifically on

this issue.

Chairman Glenn. Have you run any polls in this area or do you

have any surveys?
Ms. RiVLiN. I do not think there is any guarantee that there will

be no RIF's, but the buyout authority, if we had it now, would cer-

tainly minimize the number of RIF's.

I do not have exact numbers on the surveys of 13's and 14's, but

you certainly put your finger on the problem. The reason that the

buyout legislation is so attractive is because it makes it much easi-

er to get middle-management delayering attended to and not to

have to resort to RIF's.

Chairman Glenn. Is there any chance that too many people

would take this option if we had it? Should we limit the option to

a certain—should we give 0PM a real big stick to limit the num-
bers of people that could take this?

Ms. RrvLiN. Oh, it would be selective. The agencies would not use

it any more than they had to.

Chairman Glenn. They could stop it in midstream if they had
more people
Ms. RrvLiN. They have to absorb the cost of it, and it is nothing

automatic. It is at the discretion of the agency to use it to best ef-

fect.
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Chairman Glenn. Your position is that it is basically budget

neutral over a long period of time; is that correct? What you put

in up front gets you the benefits later on and so on?

Mr. Panetta. Yes. Our scoring was basically that ultimately we
achieve savings and that pursuant to the kinds of scorekeeping

rules we normally use in this instance, there are indirect costs, but

ultimately there is a major savings here to be achieved. CBO does

not disagree with that, but CBO, again, has scored these indirect

costs up front.

Chairman Glenn. That needs to be spelled out and emphasized

because it is a little difficult to explain to somebody back home, as

was brought out in testimony over on the House side, a little dif-

ficult to someone who just got laid off with no benefits, and is look-

ing for a job. To say that someone down the street who works for

the Government gets $25,000 to stop working, that is a little hard

to sell, and ask him to pay taxes to give a buyout when he did not

get one himself I think you need a lot of publicity on the advan-

tages of this thing if we are going to be able to sell it.

Mr. Panetta. I think you are right. Frankly, I do not think we
have done as good a job as we should have done in terms of selling

the need for the buyout legislation, because there is kind of a first

reaction that somehow, you know, we are just basically buying peo-

ple and giving them a huge benefit here. But the problem is that

if you want to do it in an orderly way and if you want to do it in

a way that is going to give you the best chance of improving man-
agement—I mean, if a Secretary or a department head can say, you
know, to improve my operation I can get rid of this person at this

level and this person at this level and begin to target individuals,

it gives them a better chance to improve it.

The bumping, I am not telling you not to look at the bumping
thing because unfortunately I think the bumping process creates a

terrible approach to dealing with RIF's, because what you wind up
doing is you always wind up keeping the same people at the top,

and it is the people at the bottom that keep getting nailed. It is

a bad way to do it.

Chairman Glenn. I know. I agree with that. If you just looked

at the percentages of people getting out of Government, we turn

over something hke 11, 12 percent a year. If you just looked at

straight numbers, you could do it all by attrition. But that does not

take care of the problem you are trying to deal with, which is try-

ing to get down to about a l-to-15 manager-to-employee ratio like

business and industry tries to come to, as opposed to the l-to-7

that has developed in Government where we have a manager for

every seven employees. And it is going to be a big order. I do not

know whether this will do it or not or whether we are going to need
something else to really get that 250,000 or so out.

My time is up on this round. Senator Roth?
Senator Roth. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Going back to the line of questioning, I would like to ask either

you, Mr. Panetta, or Dr. Rivlin how many additional employees do

you think will leave Government because of the buyout? Do you
have any estimate of that?

Ms. Rivlin. I do not have an exact estimate of that. We would
be glad to work on that and supply it.
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Senator Roth. As I mentioned before you arrived, Dr. Rivlin

—

it is always a pleasure to have you here—the Congressional Budget

Office estimates that it will only result in roughly 29,000, or 30,000

additional employees leaving Government service. So then the

question arises, aren't we paying an awful lot to all those who
leave? We would have that much leave the Government anyway
through attrition or otherwise.

Ms. Rivlin. There certainly will be some who would have left

othervdse, and it is hard to estimate how many of those there will

be. But we believe that, used selectively, it really can be a tool that

will allow us to get the right people out. It is not just so much a

question of the numbers. It is a question of who leaves. Attrition

does not give you the opportunity to make sure that particular peo-

ple and particular positions are closed down.
Senator Roth. I understand and recognize the importance of

having the right people in the right jobs, but there is this rather

substantial question as to whether the buyout is worth the cost for

the reasons I am outlining.

Mr. Panetta. Again, Senator, I would just—at least the experi-

ence we have had—and I know DOD, in terms of how much they,

in fact, used it, the fact is that I think if you asked most of the

people at DOD, they think this was a very good tool that they had
in many instances
Senator ROTH. The situation at Defense is somewhat different

because you did have a reduction.

Mr. Panetta. A pretty significant one.

Senator ROTH. A lot of people, of course, knew that they faced

that situation.

Mr. Panetta. Well, believe me, it is pretty clear we are going to

achieve a 12 percent reduction, and if the crime bill is any indica-

tion, it is going to be locked in.

Senator Roth. What percentage of those will be in the Defense
Department of those additional reductions?
Mr. Panetta. Of the 252,000, obviously a good portion of that

does include the Defense Department.
Senator ROTH. Do we have any estimate what that figure will be?

Mr. Panetta. I think well over 100,000. Close to 140,000,
150,000 would come from the Defense Department.
Senator RoTH. 150,000 from the Defense Department, and the

other agencies will be just 100,000.
Mr. Panetta. Yes.
Senator Roth. I would like to go on to some other questions. As

I mentioned, I just met with the Governors, and they have as a top

priority the problem of unfunded mandates. Do you have any sug-

gestions as to how that problem should be addressed? Because it

is one that is not going to go away. I think part of the problem is

that we increasingly see shared responsibility for an area of activ-

ity. And when you have shared responsibility, who pays how much
becomes a very difficult problem to allocate. But do you have any
thoughts on that?
One of the concerns of the Governors has been the lack of flexi-

bility in regulations that they feel many times, because of dif-

ferences between different States, different regions, different solu-

tions can reach the same goal, but the regulatory process is such
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that the Federal Government spells out precisely how you do it and
the bureaucrat is unwilling to let States experiment with other ap-

proaches.
I think it is a serious problem because essentially it means Fed-

eral Government is establishing priorities for the States. In other

words, if we say it has to be done, that becomes a top priority for

their tax revenue. As a result, crime, we are all concerned about

crime. We are saying we ought to give an additional 100,000 new
policemen. Part of the reason there is that demand is because, ac-

cording to some of the Governors, the States cannot fund their own
policemen because they have got these mandates.
How do we address that problem?
Mr. Panetta. It is an area that the President is very concerned,

about. As a Governor, a former Governor, I think the President has

seen it from the other side in terms of the mandates that come
down. Particularly, obviously, the one that is at the top of

everybody's list is Medicaid because of the mandates that flow

through the Medicaid law and certainly the responsibility of the

States to basically meet those requirements. If there is anything

that in terms of cost has been at the top of the list, it certainly is

that. But it obviously has raised concerns in a number of other

areas.

The President has issued, as you know, an Executive order with

regards to unfunded mandates, and we have issued a memo based

on that that basically asks each of the agencies to, in fact, review

their regulations, review their requirements in terms of its un-

funded aspect, so that we can begin to identify—I think our first

priority at our level at 0MB is to identify what are those unfunded
mandates, and then begin to take action either—you know, you
have got one of two courses here at that point. You either fund the

mandates that are there, or you move to modify or get rid of the

mandates.
This is not going to be an easy process because obviously every

time Congress passes a law, it is a mandate. Every time we issue

a regulation, it is a mandate of some kind. Some of them are im-

portant. All of us recognize that mandates related to health and
safety are important mandates.
On the other hand, there are a number of other regulations and

mandates that are out there that put a tremendous burden on
State and local Government.

I think our first obligation is for us to evaluate exactly what are

those mandates and which ones of those, in fact, legitimately are

not funded and how do we deal with them then.

Senator Roth. Could I just make one follow-up comment, Mr.

Chairman. I think that is important. I agree with that. Also, as the

one who has OIRA in your baihwick and review regulations, this

question of flexibility in the regulatory process is one that I think

needs likewise to be looked at immediately. Unfortunately, it has
become very politically controversial, in part from the private sec-

tor; but, nevertheless, you have some of the same problems with

your State and local Government.
I think we need to address that question promptly. The impor-

tant thing is to achieve the goals, not so much how. Basically, can't

we introduce more flexibility? Because the situations on clean
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water, for example, where a salt lake is different than say the

problems in an urban area.

Mr. Panetta. Obviously one of the goals that Sally Katzen has

really worked on is the ability to be much more sensitive to these

regulations and how they do impact, to really take costs into con-

sideration, to really look at how both the State and community as

well as the business sector are going to be impacted by these var-

ious regulations.

Senator ROTH. I would urge you to do that across Government.

Mr. Panetta. And it is important to do. But I also want to tell

you it is not an easy problem to solve. For example, in the crime

bill, which got a very strong vote on the Senate side, if you begin

to analyze elements of that crime bill, you are looking at mandates.

Senator ROTH. Absolutely. Same in the health bill. Same in the

welfare reform.

Mr. Panetta. And, you know, the bottom line always is people

say, you know, I am happy to fulfill the mandate, but where is the

money? And so the money issue is going to be a problem in each

of these areas.

Ultimately it does come down to resources. I think it is very

tough when you start telling people what they have to do and not

provide the resources to get it done.

Chairman Glenn. Senator Lieberman?
Senator LiEBERMAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Glenn. Did you have something you wanted to add,

Ms. Rivhn?
Ms. RiVLiN. Well, I just wanted to add that giving States and lo-

calities more flexibility to use funds the way they want to, where
there are conflicting regulations—the kind of thing that Senator

Roth was mentioning—that has been one of the themes of the Na-
tional Performance Review. Very often these regulations are in

statute and you have to give the agency by another statute waiver
authority, but that is something we are working on quite hard.

Senator LiEBERMAN. Thanks. Director Panetta, I want to come
back to something you said earlier as I was heading out and into

the room. I believe I heard you say that about 80 percent of the

so-called Penny-Kasich cuts, which, as you know, we have a com-
panion to here in the Senate that I have been working on, will be

included in the President's budget recommendation that will come
out next Monday. Did I hear that correctly?

Mr. Panetta. Well, 80 percent of the savings that are included

in Penny-Kasich are largely incorporated either in health care re-

form or in our budget proposals. That is correct. The major parts,

if you look at Penny-Kasich, major savings came from Medicare
and Medicaid, much of which we used to pay for health care re-

form. The other big piece of it is the cut in Federal personnel which
we also have incorporated in our budget. But there are also a num-
ber of other discretionary cuts that we have included as well. I do
not want to give the impression we adopted all other discretionary

cuts, but a lot of them are part of this. But if you look at the dollar

amount, the dollar amount contained in Penny-Kasich, much of

that we have used in the budget or in health care reform.

Senator Lieberman. OK. Well, I appreciate that as one who has
worked on that, and I will look forward to the details. The adminis-
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tration committed during the budget debate action in Congress last

summer to do more deficit reduction, and Penny-Kasich, Kerrey-
Brown is an attempt by a group of us to try to raise other alter-

natives, and I appreciate it and I think it is significant if the ad-

ministration has, in fact, embraced some of those in the budget rec-

ommendation. Obviously it puts the pressure on us now to see if

we can find some more places to do additional deficit reduction, but
that is good pressure. That is a good kind of competition to have
occur, and I thank you for that news.
Let me just talk a little bit about the rescission, and as I men-

tioned earlier, and I believe you did, too, H.R. 3400, which incor-

porates the reinventing Government parts and the rescission as
passed by the House, is now in this Committee. We have heard in

the wind that there may be a separate rescission bill coming out
of the Appropriations Committee. I wanted to ask you, from the ad-
ministration's point of view, is H.R. 3400 the preferred vehicle for

the rescissions that the administration not only promised it would
offer during the budget debate but, in fact, then did offer during
the fall?

Mr. Panetta. We would like obviously the key elements of H.R.
3400 to proceed forward. Unfortunately, some of the elements of
3400 in terms of our original recommendations with regards to

NPR changes, the House did not adopt all of those changes. I

strongly recommend that the Senate look at those additional
changes that we recommended as part of our NPR reforms.
With regards to the rescission package, we did recommend a

package of rescissions, I believe about $2 billion worth of rescis-

sions. I think the House added some additional rescissions of their
own with regards to those proposals.

Senator Lieberman. Right.
Mr. Panetta. That package is now over here. We would like to

see that proceed as well. I should alert you that in the budget we
will be submitting an additional set of rescissions as well.

Senator Lieberman. OK. Is it true that there may be some re-

scissions coming separately out of the Senate Appropriations Com-
mittee related to the supplemental appropriations bill, or are you
not aware of that?
Mr. Panetta. The debate on the House floor—and I am not up

to date on that—will present several alternatives, as I understand
it, with regards to the disaster package, one of which will be
Penny-Kasich. I think there is another amendment that will offer

additional cuts. And then I believe the Fazio amendment will basi-
cally ask that the Congress pass again the rescission package that
was adopted last year and incorporate it here to have those rescis-

sions pay for a part of the disaster package.
Senator LIEBERMAN. OK. I have the yellow light on, but let me

just take you through a few questions that I hope will, although
I think you have done a good job at it, just answer a few of my
questions and perhaps clarify on the issue of buyouts, because I

want to have it better understood what CBO's scoring of the $500
million represents.
As I understand it, the $500 million approximate cost of the

buyouts, the number that we are seeing mentioned, is actually the
payout from the retirement trust funds for the additional retire-
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ment benefits to an increase in the number of people on the retire-

ment rolls. Am I correct in that?

Mr. Panetta. That is correct.

Senator LiEBERMAN. So that it is not in that sense from appro-

priated budget moneys.
Mr. Panetta. No.
Senator LiEBERMAN. And, in fact, eventually that money would

be paid to these people when they retire anyway.

Mr. Panetta. Exactly.

Senator Lieberman. OK. Secondly, the $500 million—I am just

going to ask two or three brief questions—also does not represent

the $25,000 payment to departing employees, which, as I under-

stand it, would be covered from existing appropriations for salaries

that would otherwise be paid to those employees during the re-

mainder of the fiscal year; correct?

Mr. Panetta. That is correct.

Senator LiEBERMAN. OK. And CBO has not scored the benefit

from reducing the overall number of Federal employees?

Mr. Panetta. That is correct.

Senator LiEBERMAN. Nor has it taken into account the long-term

effects on the Federal budget of that reduction in the number of

employees?
Mr. Panetta. That is correct.

Senator LiEBERMAN. OK. So it is not that it is paper money; it

is real money. But it seems to me that the scoring and the numbers
that are going around that are guiding this debate on buyouts are

not fair and are not comprehensive. They do not tell the whole
story, and, in fact, the whole story is much better in that most of

the money for the buyouts is coming out of the trust funds from
which it would come anyway when these people retired later on.

Ms. RiVLiN. Moreover, if we had a 10-year window or even a 7-

year window instead of a 5-year window, this problem would go

away.
Mr. Panetta. This is one of those things that makes dealing

with budgets continually frustrating because when you kind of

argue the logic that you just presented in your series of questions,

I do not think there is anybody who disagrees with that. As a mat-
ter of fact, CBO does not disagree with it. But then when you kind
of get down to the green eyeshade kind of look at, well, yes, but
it is going to cost this and this and this and what have you, sud-

denly they have come out with a requirement that it does involve

a pay-go hit; and suddenly we are faced with a situation where, be-

cause of the Senate rules, in particular—I mean, this is something
that ought to be waived very frankly, because everybody recognizes

the reality. It ought to be waived. And the House would probably

waive it. We think we would have a good chance. Maybe not. But
in any event, we know we run into the point of order on the Senate
side.

So we are in a box right now. We have got to pass this buyout
legislation. We think it is absolutely essential to hitting our target,

and so we are now in the process of developing a way to pay for

it, which is not going to be fun, but on the other hand, it is the

only way we can get this buyout legislation enacted.
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Senator LlEBERMAN. I wish we could figure out a way to see be-
neath this, what is an artificial structure. It is almost an appari-
tion. It is not real because it is money basically in the trust ftinds

and money that is there for appropriated salaries for the rest of the
year. So, I mean, to me the result is ridiculous. And you have got
a very good purpose here, which all of us are not only pushing you
to do but already taking credit for the savings that are going to

come from it, and because of the—we have got to figure out a way
to get beneath the green eyeshades into our brains here and do this

sensibly.

Anyway, I thank you for your answers and for what you are try-

ing to do. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator DORGAN. [Presiding] Thank you, Senator Lieberman.
Mr. Panetta, let me ask you a couple of questions, first about

Federal buildings. I introduced in the Senate the Federal Buildings
Moratorium Act, and I must say that there has not been a stam-
pede to cosponsor it. And I understand why. But it seems to me
that if we are going to reduce the Federal workforce by some
250,000 employees, we will likely or should likely need less Federal
office space at some point in the future.

Have you calculated that? Does that translate into savings with
respect to Federal office space? If so, how much?
Mr. Panetta. It should, and we have made the argument that

as a result of the 12 percent reduction in workforce that it ought
to involve less space in terms of Federal buildings and Federal rent
and Federal space requirements.
We have asked GSA to basically calculate that so that, in fact,

we would know what the impact of that would be so that we could
achieve those savings.
Senator DORGAN. You say it should result in that. The question

is whether it will result in that. And so is the GSA now involved
in a process to determine or calculate what savings might result
from reducing the workforce and, therefore, the need for less space?
Mr. Panetta. I have to tell you GSA is basically—the approach

that Roger Johnson is taking there is that. A, we do not need the
amount of buildings that already have been targeted. We do not
need them, so there is a lot of new construction, very frankly, that
we are not going to recommend that we proceed with. With regards
to existing space, his approach is that we are paying too much, and
I agree with him. We are pajdng too much in terms of rent and
leasing costs, and a lot of that could be probably reduced in terms
of cost if we kind of purchased some of that property so that we
would reduce those long-range costs. And we are looking at that.
We really have taken an overall approach that basically says we

are going to reduce the way we have done business with regards
to construction. Now, obviously that involves a real partnership
with the Congress because we have basically recommended—in the
budget what we will do is we will recommend that we establish as
opposed to kind of specific projects, a fund, that we ought to make
judgments on how that is used, and that we ought not to just sim-
ply allow members to basically incorporate their buildings for con-
struction in these bills. We have got to move away from that.

Senator DORGAN. I could not agree with you more. Part of it is

the fault of the Congress writing in buildings that we do not need.
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Part of it is the fault of design standards and the bureaucracy say-

ing here is the building we order up, and here is what you have

to have in it. You start building and you find out it is costing $230

a square foot, which is absolutely crazy. We spend two-and-a-half

times in some cases the cost per square foot to build a Federal of-

fice building than to build a 20-story commercial office building or

a hospital. The statistics are staggering about that.

The reason I am asking the question is: I am trying to determine

whether there is the same resolve and the same steely determina-

tion in 0MB and the administration to stop the way we do busi-

ness in building Federal buildings, stop this engine for continuing

to build, as we are talking about reducing employees.

Mr. Panetta. Yes.

Senator DORGAN. I support the goal of reducing employees, but

I also want to put the brakes on building new Taj Mahals or large

buildings that are not needed. Let me ask you, especially, are you

willing to work with me and others with respect to the judiciary

and the building of new Federal courthouses?

Mr. Panetta. Yes. Absolutely.

Senator DORGAN. Is there someone in your agency that you

might point out to me that we can work with? Because that is an-

other major problem.
Mr. Panetta. Frank Reeder in my shop has been working on

tVl3.t ISSUG

Senator DORGAN. Would you tell Frank that I am going to call

him?
Mr. Panetta. Yes, please.

Senator DORGAN. Thank you.

Let me ask you about buyouts. I think Senator Lieberman asked

a lot of the right questions and made some good points about the

budget issues. And I understand all those points, and yet I am still

skeptical, and I want to try to ask you some questions that will re-

solve this for me. And answer the question in terms of my being

in Hillsboro, North Dakota, at the cafe and we are sitting around

talking about how we resolve this problem. We want to reduce the

Federal workforce, and we are going to reduce it by 252,000 people.

And you come to us with a plan that says one way to reduce it here

is to offer $25,000 bonus buyouts to certain employees or to em-

ployees, hoping that enough of them will take this bonus and leave

Federal service.

We have had a dispirited Federal workforce with low morale and

lots of problems over the last decade, and I understand that. We
owe them a good workplace. We owe them some sense of security.

We owe them decent compensation, and we owe them a situation

in which working for public service is something of honor and peo-

ple will view it as such.

But when we do decide to make a change in the structure of the

workforce, why would we not use a reduction in force and change

the bumping rules and do some things that simply allow you to say

here is a layer of management that we do not need in this agency,

we are going to give them proper notice and move on? Can you ex-

plain to me in laymen's terms why that is not a preferable ap-

proach?
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Mr. Panetta. I think the answer to that is that all of that has
to be done. I am not telling you that we should not look at bump
rules and try to make some sense of that because, I mean, the guy
in the coffee shop I think would understand it pretty quickly if

Senator Dorgan. But you are not recommending that. At least

I have been at hearings and I have not heard that recommended
or pushed by the administration. That is why I am asking the
question.

Mr. Panetta. No. Obviously, that is something we have a group
that we are working with representatives from the civil employees'
unions in which we are discussing the kind of changes that we
think need to be made to try to benefit us for the future. And so
I am not by any means shutting the door on looking at those rules
as well. I think that has to be done.
But we are in a situation now where we have got to achieve a

100,000 reduction in a very fast time frame. And what the experi-
ence is, whether it is DOD or CIA or whether it is most of the For-
tune 100 companies, that they basically make use of this as a way
to try to move people out. You know, part of it is just a way to say,
you know, you do not want to just simply throw somebody on the
street through a RIF. You do not want to throw the wrong person
in the street through a RIF, that this gives you at least another
tool to try to do it in the best way possible.

Most of the streamlining that is taking place in the private sector
has been done with this tool, and I think that is probably the best
answer to give to people in the street, which is it has worked for

the private sector. Every company that we know of that has basi-
cally had to streamline, most of them use this tool. The Federal
Government has got to do it. And this is the first time we have
ever cut the Federal workforce by 12 percent. We need the same
tool.

Senator Dorgan. We do not want to end up in a situation where
we have downsized and we discover that those who made the deci-
sion to downsize were somewhere high in the organization and all

the folks who lost their jobs were low in the organization. We have
got some examples in some of the services right now, where we
have got plenty of generals, far more than we need currently, and
the restructuring was done without regard to deciding exactly
where you do not need people.
Can you send us some information that has been complied about

the way the private sector has downsized and how the buyouts in
the private sector mirror those proposals?
Mr. Panetta. Yes. I am happy to do that, and also, you know,

just how much they have generally used in their buyout proposEils.

But we can give you that information. I will be happy to do that.
Senator Dorgan. Let me ask you just a bit about the question

of overhead costs. In the private sector, when they run into some
real financial trouble, the first thing they do is cut indirect spend-
ing. You cut your copying, your printing, travel, those kinds of
things that represent overhead, classic overhead costs. And there
is just that belt tightening right in those areas.

In the Federal Government it has been hard to see that that is

the case. Federal Government budgeting has all too often been
what you got last year, add a little bit to it, that is what you get
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next year. And I am trying to understand exactly what kind of

progress we are making with respect to overhead.

There is an Executive order from last February, Executive Order

12837, which is the Deficit Control and Productivity Improvement

in the Administration of the Federal Government order. I want to

know how that has worked. What kind of experience have you had?

What kind of reports? Are we really seeing cuts in overhead spend-

ing in Federal agencies? Can you address that general area?

Mr. Panetta. In the budget that we did last year, we had a

major provision there with regards to streamlining and cutting ad-

ministrative costs. The 1994 budget reflected savings, the following

savings, and we basically require this, that they achieve 3 percent

and that it continue to escalate each year. The 1994 budget has a

3 percent reduction in these costs at $681 million. The 1995 budget

will have a 6 percent decrease in these costs at $1.4 billion. The
1996 budget will have a 9 percent decrease at $2.2 bilHon, and then

we go to 14 percent decreases in 1997 and 1998 at $3.5 and $3.6

billion. This is on top, these are additional savings. This is not a

question of adding the savings as we go through it.

What we have identified are the following categories: travel and
transportation of persons; transportation of things; communica-
tions, utilities and rents; printing and reproduction, consulting and
other contractual services; and supplies and materials. These are

the areas that we are asking for savings. We have asked each

agency to give us an update as to how they are achieving these sav-

ings as part of their budget.

Ms. RiVLiN. And the procurement reform, in addition, will give

us some overhead savings. It is a matter of simplifying the way
procurement is done and being able to reduce the overhead costs.

Senator Dorgan. Let me ask you about another general area

briefly, the area of Federal advisory committees and that whole
range of committees that are created for study and advice and so

on. We have got thousands of them, I guess. In fact, I looked at

one list of advisory committees, and one of the letters, I think it

was A or B, had 252 committees beginning with that letter alpha-

betically arranged. And I know you are doing some work in that

area. Can you describe exactly where we are and what we might
expect.
Mr. Panetta. We have, through Executive order and I believe as

part of the budget, we said we were going to cut those in half

There is a hell of a lot of them. I do not know what the number
is right now of advisory committees.
Ms. RiVLlN. We are almost at our goal.

Mr. Panetta. Yes. Literally what we have done is we have rec-

ommended as part of the budget that we in essence cut those—the

first step is to cut them by 20 percent, and we think we will be

very close to meeting that goal of cutting all those advisory com-
mittees by 20 percent. The problem is to try and stay ahead of this.

You know, every time I have turned around, there is another some-
thing that has been passed to establish another advisory commit-
tee. And as we are cutting these over here, they are suddenly start-

ing to come in the other door. But every time we do that, we are

trying to say, wait a minute, we cannot establish it because our

commitment is to try to reduce these advisory committees.
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There are literally a thousand-plus of these advisory committees,
and we have committed to try to cut back, as I said, and even the
budget will reflect cutting back on these advisory committees. The
first step is 20 percent, but we are going to try to move towards
50 percent.

Senator DORGAN. Good for you. Be more aggressive if you can.

Let me just mention one other thing. You know the old saw
about it probably only could have been Nixon that opened China
and those sorts of things. I think only an aggressive Democratic ad-
ministration could do what you are doing in cutting this workforce,
and, you know, I honestly think that we have built a bureaucracy
that is too big, too cumbersome, does not spend the taxpayers'
money wisely, and that we need desperately to change. And I am
just someone who feels good about the direction this is taking and
the leadership that you are providing. And I know it is not easy
because, as you say, those of us here in the Senate see the same
thing. It is like the old game, Whack-a-Mole, at a carnival, you
know, where they have these little squirrels that jump up and you
hit one and it jumps up over here. That is sort of the way the bu-
reaucracy responds. They were here before we got here, and they
are going to be here long after we are gone. And if they can just
wait, they will win.
But I think this administration is determined to make fun-

damental structural changes in the way Government works, to im-
prove the delivery of services and the efficiency of Government.
And I am enormously impressed by what you are doing. I had the
opportunity to serve 10 years with you—12 years, I guess, in the
U.S. House, and I think a lot of your talents.

Let me ask you one final question. Do you feel good about this

job? Do you think you can actually make a difference? If your job
ends in the not-too-distant future, can you look back and say I have
made a heck of a difference, or are you starting to get overwhelmed
with fighting this bureaucracy? Tell me what your assessment is.

Mr. Panetta. Let me put it this way: I cannot imagine what the
hell this job must be like when the deficit is going up. At the very
least, you know, for all of the tough decisions you have to make
and the day-to-day challenges that you have to face, it would be a
pretty depressing job if the deficit was going up while you are mak-
ing those decisions. At least we have the comfort of knowing that
we have, in fact, reversed the path of these deficits.

As you know—and you were a leader both in the House and are
now a leader in the Senate on this concern—it was like, you know,
you continued to talk about this issue and continued to grapple
with it, and while you were doing that, the deficit continued to go
up. We now have an opportunity to drive that curve downward,
and I just hope we have the guts to stick to that path. As I said,

this budget is going to be tough, but it is the next step in the path
that we have to take in terms of the economic plan. I hope we have
the guts to deal with health care reform because those are the costs
that are going to blow up on us if we do not. We are now on that
downward path. That deficit starts to creep back up if we do not
deal with that area. And I hope we have the guts to take on some
other entitlements as well.
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If we do that, I think we can show the American people, you

know, that you do not necessary have to change the Constitution

in order to do it right.

Senator DORGAN. I do not mean to save the hardest question for

last, and I did not intend to ask this. But as long as you have spo-

ken about these issues, the health care issue is the 500-pound go-

rilla of policy issues this year. And if you do not deal with it, a lot

of other things cannot readily be solved. And yet I am concerned

about some of the numbers I see, and you will appreciate this as

a numbers person.

If you take a look at GDP committed to health care, it was last

year 14.1 percent, which is too high, much higher than any other

country. But if you take a look at the ingredients, the numbers be-

hind the plan that we are talking about, if you phase in the whole

health care plan as is, that GDP goes from 14.1 to 16.9 percent.

And, you know, it seems to me that success is freezing it at 14 per-

cent of gross domestic product and then trying to ratchet it down
a bit. The failure would be to allow it to go from the current 14

percent to nearly 17 percent.

Have you studied those numbers, and can you give me some an-

swers of why that would be the case?

Mr. Panetta. Alice has been working on health care, heading up
some health care task forces, and she might be able to comment.
Ms. RiVLlN. I share your view that we ought to be able to do bet-

ter, but I think realistically we probably cannot because if we did

not have an aggressive plan to hold down the increase in health

care costs—and I believe that the President's plan represents such

an aggressive effort—the costs would be going up even faster. But
the reason for the increases is not that the cost of doing the same
things or treating the same people will be rising; it is that the

President's plan really tries to do thing: both to control costs and
to cover everybody, to be a universal program. And in so doing, in

covering people that have no insurance or very inadequate insur-

ance now, and who do not live in areas where they would be served

even if they had insurance, would realistically have to add to the

services in the short run even as we are bringing in more competi-

tion and more aggressive cost controls for the longer-run future.

Senator DORGAN. I appreciate the answer. I would simply ob-

serve that if in order to bring others on board takes you to nearly

17 percent of gross domestic product compared to 11 for Canada,
with no other country reaching 10 percent of GDP, then there is

something wrong with the structure. We have had new figures, but

last year the plan that was submitted says we are now at 14.1 per-

cent, that will increase to 17.3 percent of GDP; but, ergo, we saved
money because it would have gone to 18.9 if we had not done any-

thing, so we saved 1.6 percent of GDP. And that, of course, is clas-

sic Washington accounting. But now that has been revised to say

it is now slightly over 14 percent of gross domestic product for the

health care system. If we do everything in the administration's

plan, it will rise to 16.9 percent. I do not view that as a success,

and I am very concerned about that number and am going to use
other avenues to explore that, and have. But I just wanted to ask
what your explanation was.



34

Mr. Panetta. You have worked on these issues a lot, and you
have worked on these issues a long time, and
Chairman Glenn. Excuse me, Leon. I have to go vote. I will run

over and get back as fast as I can. I do have a couple more ques-

tions I wanted to ask.

Mr. Panetta. You have worked on these issues a long time, and
in your position you are going to be continuing to work on these.

I think the key—I mean, obviously from my perspective, the most
important thing that we need to do is to try to control that growth
in costs, because I see that as the biggest threat in terms, as I said,

of the path that we are trying to estabhsh with regards to the defi-

cit. I just cannot—and I think CBO agrees with this approach. The
challenge is how do you control those costs without going to a corn-

prehensive system, and if you go to a comprehensive system, it

raises some of the problems that you just talked about.

It is somewhere in that balance that we have got to find the an-

swer. And, listen, if you could keep it to 14, 15 percent of GDP,
that would be great. But I think you have got to say how do you
get there and what is the mechanism in order to make sure that

we can do that. And I think you will find that the mechanism is,

in order to make it work, you have got to do something on a com-
prehensive basis.

Senator DORGAN. Well, a lot more will be said about this subject.

Mr. Panetta. I am sure.

Senator DORGAN. I did not mean to get into health care.

As the Chairman indicated, there is a vote in progress. It will

take him probably 8 or 10 minutes to vote and be back here, and
he has other questions he wants to pose.

Mr. Panetta. I will wait.

Senator DoRGAN. With your indulgence, the Committee will

stand in recess for 10 minutes.
[Recess.]

Chairman Glenn. The hearing will resume. Sorry for the trun-

cated nature of things here, but you are familiar with how things
work on the Hill. So we will continue with a few more questions,

and I do not want to run on into the afternoon. I know you are

busy, and we have other meetings also.

I would ask that any questions we submit, if you would answer
those in writing so we can include them as part of the record here
today, as is our usual custom.
Mr. Panetta. Absolutely.

Chairman GLENN. Any members who wish to submit additional

questions can do so.

You mentioned the administration's support for the principles of

S. 1587, which is our procurement reform initiative, and we appre-
ciate that support. This Committee has worked on procurement re-

form for I guess it is probably 3.5 years, maybe 4 years, something
like that. It has been sort of fits and starts. We have had some leg-

islation. This year, though, we did a different thing. We took all

that past experience here, combined it with interest on the Armed
Services Committee also, and working together with them, also

took into account the 800 panel recommendations, also the NPR
recommendations, and combined them into one big bill. And I sub-
mitted that bill.
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Last fall, I think we missed the opportunity—the administration

along wdth us here—to enact this legislation which I feel is much
needed because we just could not arrive at a consensus and we had

some conflicting administration positions on the bill from one de-

partment or another. But the President and Vice President them-

selves had embraced the bill at that time, and we put it all in to-

gether, had the announcement over there at the White House.

Now, OFPP Administrator Steve Kelman, who is here this morn-

ing, I think he is doing an excellent job coordinating and present-

ing the administration's views. But I think we are beginning to see

some of the conflicts of last fall again, and recently there have been

some administration officials who may have had testimony that

raised some other positions. And so it looks like maybe we are be-

ginning to pick this thing apart again.

I hope that you could assure us that the administration will

speak with one voice. I would hope that would be through OFPP
so they can coordinate all these things, DOD and everybody, on

procurement reform. I think if we miss the chance this year to get

this out before we hit the summer busy season here and out early

because it is an election year, I think we will have missed an op-

portunity here to really do some good things on procurement re-

form. I know what we are talking about this morning is not pri-

marily on procurement itself. We are talking about management
and making things work right once the procurement has occurred.

But procurement is so key to everything we do that I just hope we
are not going to miss this opportunity to get what I see is a very

meanin^ul piece of legislation through. And I hope you could work
to administrate the administration's single voice on this. I think

the logical place for it is OFPP.
Mr. Panetta. Mr. Chairman, we agree with you, and Steve is

doing an excellent job basically coordinating the different agencies

and the negotiation process. And when we finalize this negotiation,

we will speak with one voice.

Chairman Glenn. All right. Good.
Back to buyouts again, because that is going to be front and cen-

ter on what we do here shortly. As I understood it, you had asked
the different agencies and departments to put together what their

plan would be and to submit those to you. What is the status of

that? Because I think when we get into discussing this on the floor,

if we can show that people in the departments or agencies say here

is what I think we can do if we pass this, we can have X number
of people out, it is going to save us this amount; another depart-

ment will say, no, we need to expand, maybe IRS or somebody, to

get some of that $18.7 billion, needs to expand their workforce in-

stead of contract it. What is the status of that planning effort that

you asked each department to get into?

Mr. Panetta. We required that each of the departments submit

plans by late last year specifying how they were going to imple-

ment these reductions, and we have received those plans from the

agencies. As a matter of fact, many of those proposals are now in-

corporated in their budget submissions, but I am more than happy
to try to share some of those plans with you so that you will have

those tools when you debate
Chairman GLENN. How many plans are in? Are all of them in?
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Mr. Panetta. All in.

Chairman Glenn. All the plans are in. OK. Well, maybe we can
use some of that information to help move the buyout legislation

forward. I think you are going to have a pretty good sales job to

make this acceptable to everybody all over the country.
You also put out instructions for all the departments to go

through a review of their regulations and make recommendations
back on ones that could be changed, ones that were not so onerous,
ones that did not have an unfunded mandate that Senator Roth
was talking about and we are all interested in, lots of questions we
get on the Americans with Disabilities Act, with clean water, clean
air, wetlands in particular—that is one with horror stories about
how legislation is being interpreted and what is going on out there
in the country pursuant to that, some of those things border on just
being ludicrous.

What is going on with the regulatory review of regulations?
Mr. Panetta. As I said, we have sent out requests to each of the

agencies to review their current regulations with a view to these
unfunded mandates, and more importantly, what we are doing is

that we have, by reducing the total volume of regulations that we
overview—because a lot of those regulations, as you know, were
perfunctory and could move through. But by tightening up on the
focal point for our regulatory review, we are doing, I think, a much
better job at analyzing these kinds of problems and in bringing the
agencies into a discussion group approach to saying these are prob-
lems with relationship to either costs or unfunded mandates or how
can we try to reduce that.

Again, there are some changes just by virtue of statutory require-
ments that are difficult to change just through the regulatory proc-
ess, but there are instances where I think, you know, a line change
here, an emphasis change there can, in fact, have a significant im-
pact with regards to their cost implications. And I think we are
doing a much better job of that.

We hope to get these recommendations back soon, I think within
the next week or so, and that will give us a better sense of what
additional changes can be made administratively with the regula-
tions that are currently on the books.
Chairman Glenn. You plan, then, to give us a list of rec-

ommendations for legislative changes that would help remedy some
of these things?
Mr. Panetta. I think that may follow from this, yes, sir.

Chairman Glenn. You do not have that ready yet?
Mr. Panetta. That is correct.

Chairman Glenn. We do not have anything we can put in and
get working on now?
Mr. Panetta. Not at this point.

Chairman Glenn. OK. Let me just add in that regard, whatever
you can get to us early this year, it is going to be imperative if we
expect to get anything out this year, because, as you are aware,
this being an election year
Mr. Panetta. I saw the legislative calendar.
Chairman Glenn. This place pretty much folds up along about

the 1st of October, and we have to have things done, hearings, pass
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on to the floor and over in the House if we are expecting to get any-

thing done.
Mr. Panetta. I know that, sir.

Chairman GLENN. Everything cannot be a priority at the last

minute.
The 0MB 2000 report, which we understand would diffuse some

of the authority of the M function as opposed to having a strong

central core direction. Now, is that correct? Or what is the status

of the 0MB 2000 report first? And have you signed off on it? What
is it going to do in that regard? Because I think—let me just add

a word here.

Mr. Panetta. Sure.

Chairman Glenn. In our understanding, a couple of times in the

past this has been tried. I think way back in 1948 and then in 1973

maybe, and both times it did not work all that well. And so people

pulled back from it and tried to make a more centralized control

out of what later became 0MB. So I was a little dubious about

whether the M function is really going to work under 0MB 2000.

Mr. Panetta. The purpose of 0MB 2000 was basically in line

with kind of the whole NPR effort to kind of review—if we are

going to ask every agency to kind of review their internal oper-

ations, that we have an obligation to review our internal operation

as well to see how we can better improve it in terms of the delivery

of services based on our role in Government. And I can assure you

that while we have not made a final decision with regards to 0MB
2000, its basic thrust is to focus on how we improve both manage-
ment and budget functions at 0MB and how we can work person-

nel and structure within 0MB to make sure that happens. We do

not in any way want to undercut the management side of 0MB.
What we are looking at is how do we, in fact, do what the budget

is doing, which is to basically force good management decisions but

integrate them with the budget thrust as well so that we can say

to an agency you need to do this in management, and if you do not

we are not going to give you the kind of money that you need with

regards to the budget. That is our best leverage to force the man-
agement decisions.

But I can assure you in terms of the management roles, the of-

fices that have been established at 0MB, we basically are seeking

to enhance those rather than reduce their role.

Ms. RiVLlN. Absolutely. It really is to strengthen the manage-
ment function and to integrate it better with budgeting. One thing

we learned in going through a whole year of running this agency

is that they are too separate and that the management people often

do not have enough clout because they are sort of sitting out there

by themselves. And we need to pull the management and the budg-

et people together so they are working together better.

Chairman Glenn. Well, that is going to be a judgment call, and
we may want to discuss this much further with you, because I

think how much you put people out into a department, how much
they get sort of pre-empted and their views become sort of the

views of the department as opposed to what 0MB might want if

they took a little more detached view, an analytical view of

that
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Mr. Panetta. Let me just correct that. That is not in any way
intended to move people out into the agencies, not at all.

Chairman Glenn. OK.
Ms. RiVLiN. No, not at all.

Mr. Panetta. And let me also indicate to you and your staffs

that before we implement any decision on 0MB 2000, I would like

to sit down with you and this Committee.
Chairman Glenn. We would like to very much. What is the sta-

tus of the report now? Is it ready to be implemented or you have
not approved it or signed off on it yet?
Mr. Panetta. No, we have gotten the recommendations in, and

we are in the process of really making determinations as to what
direction we want to go in. But what 0MB 2000 is, it provided
about three or four different options, and we are now reviewing
those as to which one we want to implement.
Chairman Glenn. If we could sit down or have staff sit down

and discuss some of these things before they are implemented,
why, it might save us a lot of heartburn later on.

Mr. Panetta. I intended to do that.

Chairman Glenn. Mr. Bowsher questioned the other day—and I

had had the same question, as a matter of fact—about how we ar-

rived at this precise figure of 252,000. Did that come from any sur-
vey or did this just take all the 13's, 14's and 15's and lop off a
certain number plus a little? How was that precise figure that we
are now using as gospel arrived at?
Ms. RiVLlN. In the course of the NPR, they focused very much

on layers of management and on particular kinds of people, includ-
ing budget people, that there was a good deal of evidence that we
had too many of: the kind of procurement specialists, budget spe-
cialists, and reviewers of other people's work. And they took a
rough estimate of that group across the Government and suggested
as a benchmark a substantial reduction.
Mr. Panetta. Part of it was built—I mean, do not forget the

President had issued an Executive order for a 100,000 reduction
even before NPR came out, and then NPR basically built on that
proposal with these additional recommendations. I think it is also
important to point out that it was also clear as a result of defense
reductions that a significant portion of those reductions would be
coming out of defense.
Chairman Glenn. What is the schedule for the expected rec-

ommendations of the National Partnership Council?
Ms. RiVLlN. The national Partnership Council reported just this

week in a report to the President and the Vice President, giving
recommendations for how to proceed on the partnership and the re-

writing of the Federal personnel laws and replacement of the per-
sonnel manual. Those are recommendations, and they are not very
specific ones. They have very substantial options laid out there,
and the administration will take those under advisement and will
work on a piece of legislation.

Chairman Glenn. Are there changes being worked on that would
support direct changes to the Civil Service Retirement System,
raise the retirement age or reduce benefits? What is being done in
that area?
Ms. RiVLlN. Not at the moment.
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Chairman GLENN. Nothing on that at all?

Ms. RiVLlN. I know of no specific recommendations on that.

Mr. Panetta. Nothing on those, and nothing in the budget on

that area.

Chairman Glenn. Yes.

Mr. Panetta. We are going to leave that to the Kerrey Commis-
sion.

Chairman Glenn. Leave what?
Mr. Panetta. We are going to leave that to the Kerrey Commis-

sion to look at entitlement areas.

Chairman Glenn. Since Mr. Steinberg is here, it might be good

to ask this one also. We are in general pleased with the CFO Act,

but it is a fragile process. We need to get those people in place.

There cannot be vacancies in those, particularly the top spot. But
I am also concerned by the capacity of the OFFM, Office of Federal

Financial Management, to accomplish its mission. As I understand
it, OFFM has not filled staff vacancies for nearly 2 years, and the

division has gone from 43 to 35 people. Is that correct?

Mr. Panetta. I believe that is correct. Yes, I believe that is cor-

rect. Part of that is just the—I mean, part of it is our response to

the reduction in force, but part of it is attrition.

Chairman Glenn. But every place in Government, I presume you
are not going to ask every place in Government to take a flat

across-the-board percentage decrease. Some places need to be in-

creased to be more efficient.

Mr. Panetta. That is true, but 0MB has got to take our hit like

everybody else.

Chairman Glenn. OK. Just do not be so wedded to the idea that

you have to take a hit that would affect your ability to do the big-

ger things that have to be done to make the Government work
right, too.

Mr. Panetta. I understand.
Chairman Glenn. Have you had any meetings with the new Sec-

retary of Defense? Incidentally, the reason I was absent was to go
over to Armed Services and vote him out. He is now recommended
to the Senate as of about an hour ago. So we are going to hopefully

get him installed this afternoon, officially, through the confirmation
process on the floor.

Have you had any contact with him directly on talking about
how they are going to redo the financial management in the Penta-
gon? Because that is your biggest single problem in Government,
is how we manage Pentagon finances.

Mr. Panetta. I have had a number of discussions with Bill Perry
about the Pentagon. In his capacity as Deputy there, he basically

was the one we dealt with on many of these issues. He is very con-

cerned about these areas. I think he is an outstanding individual

to try to bring some of the discipline of the private sector to that
operation, and I think he intends to do that. We are going to work
with him on that, and we have said whatever assistance we can
provide in your effort, we are more than happy to provide. But I

think he is going to do a good job.

Chairman Glenn. Good. Senator Roth?
Senator ROTH. Yes, I would like to continue a couple of minutes

on unfunded mandates. One question I am not clear on is that in
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the guidelines 0MB issued for implementing Executive Order
12875 regarding unfunded mandates, it calls on Federal agencies

to do one of two things: pay for the mandate or consult with the

affected units of Government.
Now, what does that mean? If an agency takes neither course,

are the affected units of Government not obligated to implement
the mandate?
Mr. Panetta. No, I think our guidance there was that if, in fact,

we are not paying for a mandate, the question was to discuss with
units of Government, A, what the situation was with regards to re-

sources at that level, and, B, are there changes then that we have
to make in those mandates to basically either revise or end those

particular proposals. That is what we were basically trying to get

that kind of guidance back, and we just did not want the agencies

to do it on their own. We felt the most important thing about un-
funded mandates was that we have got to reach out to state and
local government to also discuss with them the impact of these pro-

posals.

Senator Roth. I think consulting obviously can create some sen-

sitivity to the problem.
Mr. Panetta. That is for sure.

Senator RoTH. But it does not, to be candid, really solve the
issue.

Mr. Panetta. No. I think ultimately it comes down to, you know,
one of two courses. We either put the resources where these man-
dates are, or we have to revise or terminate the mandates. I think
that is where it is at.

Senator ROTH. One of my concerns right now is that we seem to

be continuing—it makes no difference what administration—to

move in the direction of shared responsibility. The Senate just
passed a crime bill, where I think for the first time we are going
to hire policemen. A very, very significant change, I believe, in fed-

eralism. Where it will go from there, I do not know. But don't we
somehow need to draw a sharper line, to try to reach some agree-
ment on what level of Government is going to be responsible for

what? Because when you have shared responsibility, who is respon-
sible?

I think, Alice, you wrote some time ago about the need to try to

reach some kind of a national consensus as to what level of Gov-
ernment would assume responsibility? Would you agree with that,

that we should address that?
Ms. RiVLlN. I do believe we need to address it, and I personally

believe in making an effort to sort out the responsibilities of Fed-
eral, State, and local government more clearly.

Mr. Panetta. I think that is absolutely right. I think we are
not—we have really got to almost at some point take a broader look
at this thing as to, you know, where these responsibilities lie, be-

cause
Senator Roth. I think basically we all agree on that. The prob-

lem is to get any administration and the Congress to want to face

it. And yet I think that when we are talking about unfunded man-
dates, in many ways we are talking about who is responsible for

what. If you are really going to solve it, that is the only way you
do it. Do we need some kind of summit conference? We also have.
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as you know, this bipartisan commission to study restructuring

Government. Where does the administration now stand on that bi-

partisan commission? As I have said many times, and I think you

yourself have said, to make the other major structural reforms

which are controversial, some because of political controversy for

either Republicans or Democrats, depending on what the issue is,

the only way you are going to make those changes is by getting bi-

partisan support?
Where do we stand on the bipartisan commission? Is that going

to be pushed?
Mr. Panetta. I think the first effort we wanted to engage in was

basically to get this information back. I do think that at some point

we are going to have to provide either a conference or a commission

or some coming together to basically look at this problem and then

define a course of action that needs to be taken.

You know, when you slice through it, Senator, the problem is

pretty simple. Crime becomes a major issue in the country. Con-

gress feels it has to respond to crime. They then decide we are

going to put cops in the street or build more prisons or whatever

other mandates are, and then everybody is taking that action and
then you walk away from it. Drugs are the same thing. Housing,

employment, clean air, clean water, these are legitimate problems

that the American people identify. Congress decides to take action,

the House, the Senate, Members.
As a Member of the House, we all wanted to take action on these

problems. Suddenly we are taking action at the Federal level, and
that action, by its very nature, imposes a mandate on State and
local Government to take action.

Senator ROTH. And that is the reason I feel

Mr. Panetta. I mean, to some extent, there has got to be a dis-

cipline here, too, that says

Senator Roth. Absolutely.

Mr. Panetta. When there is a problem out there, maybe we do

not have to act. Maybe the problem is something that has to be

confronted out there.

Senator ROTH. I agree with everything you are saying. The prob-

lem is we have no consensus at this stage, and if you have a con-

sensus in which agreement is reached by the various levels, then

I think—I will not say eliminate, but it should at least help reduce

this current trend that has been going on for years.

Mr. Panetta. We need something to put the brakes on where we
say this is clearly a responsibility at the State and local level; the

Federal Government ought not to take action. But you know the

nature of politics.

Senator RoTH. My concern is that we always say, well, it is a

problem but we will look at it tomorrow, and the trend continues.

Mr. Panetta. I agree with that. I agree with that.

Senator Roth. My time is up.

Chairman Glenn. Do you have any more questions? I am going

to wind down here pretty quickly.

Senator Roth. I do have a couple more questions.

You talked about the 1995 budget, that it will include 300 spe-

cific spending cuts with 100 program terminations. Will these cuts
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be in addition to those agreed to in the August 1993 deficit reduc-

tion package, or are they
Mr. Panetta. That is correct.

Senator ROTH. They will be in addition to, they are not just to

comply with the
Mr. Panetta. That is correct.

Senator Roth. Now, will the President's health care, welfare re-

form, and crime bill, will they be included in the budget?
Mr. Panetta. The President's health care proposal, obviously

those aspects which are on budget will be included in the presen-

tation because that bill has been presented to the Congress. Wel-
fare reform has not been decided at this point within the adminis-
tration. Obviously, when those policy decisions are determined, we
are going to have to pay for whatever welfare reform proposal is

submitted, and we will do that at the time we submit the legisla-

tion.

Crime, we have basically endorsed the number on the crime bill

in the budget proposal so that the numbers that were passed by
the Senate in terms of the money that will be committed to crime,

we have incorporated that in the budget.
Senator ROTH. Mr. Chairman, I do have some additional ques-

tions, but with your agreement, I would like to submit them in

writing.

Chairman Glenn. We are leaving the record open for everybody
to ask questions. We would hope you would respond to those also.

We might want to ask you to come back again along about 3
months from now or something and talk. We will see whether we
have Mr. Lader's replacement in there and where we stand with
the buyout and how it is working, if we have it through by that
time. We were told by Jim King before that if we did not pass this

before the end of the year, in January there are going to be RIF's.

And I did not see the RIF's in January. Maybe that was more of

a push on us than anything else. Are there RIF's coming up right

away if we do not pass the buyout thing or we do not work out a
way to do that pretty quick?
Mr. Panetta. I think everybody—at least five of the departments

anticipate that there will have to be RIF's by the end of this year.

Chairman Glenn. Well, we could cover that if we got together
maybe some time in mid-May or something like that so it is not
quite so long. This is going to be a short year, as I have said a cou-

ple times this morning, and I think before we sort of have a 6-

month hiatus or 7 months here, it would be good to get an update
on where we stand with some of these things because we are get-

ting well into the second year of this administration and we want
to see these things take place.

Ms. RrvLlN. Well, we hope to have a candidate for you very soon
so you can have a confirmation hearing.
Mr. Panetta. Very soon.

Chairman Glenn. I hope so, too, because we want to—I welcome
the opportunity to have a confirmation hearing. I do not usually
say that, but I will in this case because we have to get somebody
onstream and working in that area.

One other area. We have relied very heavily on GAO, as you are
aware, for a number of reports and estimates and their high-risk
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list and how it matches your own estimates of high-risk Usts, which

is something this Committee has pushed through the years.

How closely do you work with them? Because we had him in, we

had Mr. Bowsher in last week, we get into all these things, and ob-

viously there are a lot of areas they have information on that are

of value to you. Do you have regular meetings with Mr. Bowsher

or his people? Do your staff have full access to all of his staff to

try and work these things out?

Mr Panetta. We do. We have tried to establish a much closer

relationship. Basically GAO, as a matter of fact, on many of the

task forces that have been established, GAO usually plays a part,

and in addition to that, we have tried to on a regular basis share

information with GAO because they have done such good work m
terms of information. We do not want to re-create the wheel, and

they are the best way not to have to do that.

Chairman GLENN. We have a lot of things that, as you say, im-

pinge on the budget that it is difficult to foresee where we go with

them. Nuclear cleanup is one we have been very much involved

with on this Committee. It all started with some of our interest in

Fernald back in Ohio. Now the whole complex, we are talking

$200-plus billion over a 20- or 30-year period. It is going to have

to average $8 or $9 billion a year if we are going to address that

problem.
I do not know what your new budget shows. We were coming up

pretty nicely for a while. I hope that you have enough in the new
budget to address some of these concerns also. I will not ask you

to tip your hand on that one right now.
Mr. Panetta. I do not know if "coming up nicely" is the way to

say it, but we certainly are committing funds to it.

Chairman GLENN. Well, the problem is it is not going to get

cheaper if we put it off. That is the problem.

Mr. Panetta. I know. I know.
Chairman Glenn. It is not going to get one bit cheaper.

Mr. Panetta. We are trying to stay on path with it.

Chairman Glenn. Yes. And then along with that,

unprogrammed, of course, comes an earthquake or two that tosses

a few more billion at you. We cannot predict everything, and public

interest in things, as you point out, comes up and we respond to

those interests properly. But when people have that kind of an in-

terest, like crime or whatever, then we are going to have to put

something in the budget. They are going to have to realize it does

not come for free.

Thank you very much for being here this morning. We will sub-

mit questions from the members that were not here and some that

we will have after we review the record also. I appreciate your

being here, and we will get back to you in following up on some

of these things, and we also look forward to a hearing probably

along in May sometime.
Mr. Panetta. Thank you.

[Whereupon, at 12:16 p.m., the Committee was adjourned.]
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF LEON E. PANETTA

Mr. Chairman, Senator Roth, Members of the Committee: I am very pleased to

be here today to discuss this Administration's management agenda and specifically

to address urgent next steps in our legislative agenda for management improve-

ments.
My deputy Alice Rivlin will be joining us after she concludes her testimony before

the Senate Rules Committee. Alice, as you know, has been deeply involved in per-

formance measurement and management improvement for many years. She has

been working very closely with both the "M" and 'B" parts of 0MB, with the re-

cently created President's Management Council, and with others in the White House

and across government to advance new and ongoing reform initiatives.

Our primary management objective is to restore the public's faith in government

by managing the government more effectively to give citizens and taxpayers more

value for the dollar. As the Vice President's National Performance Review put it,

we need to make government "work better and cost less"—two goals that must be

achieved simultaneously. This Committee has provided leadership toward these

ends for many years, as evidenced most recently by both the Chief Financial Offi-

cers Act of 1990 and the Government Performance and Results Act of 1993.

I'm very pleased to say that now we finally have an Administration that is confer-

ring on management issues the priority and visibility that only a President and Vice

President can give. We cannot ask for anything better. Through the National Per-

formance Review, this Administration attracted nationwide attention to these im-

portant issues, giving impetus to our implementation of many of these recommenda-
tions. Furthermore, our very disciplined budgeting process has placed new emphasis

on program management, agency streamlining, and other management issues as

part of daily decision-making.

OMB, rightly, has been at the center of a whirlwind of activity, including: the pro-

curement reform that this Committee, OMB, and the NPR know is so badly needed;

the personnel reform proposals that went to the President Tuesday from the re-

cently created national Partnership Council; the regulatory reform that the Office

of Information and Regulatory Affairs (OIRA) in OMB began implementing last

Fall; the development of a national information infrastructure; and the financial

management infrastructure, including the Federal Financial Management Act of

1993 within H.R. 3400.

At the same time, we share the concerns you raised in your December 9th letter

to the President, Mr. Chairman, about the importance and urgency of filling OMB's
Deputy Director for Management position. Phil Lader's move to the White House
as Deputy Chief of Staff 6 weeks ago was a surprise to all of us—including Phil him-

self. While we were sorry to lose the leadership, wisdom, and energy that Phil

brought to the DDM job, I cannot think of a better place for a former DDM to go

to further our management agenda.
Alice has done superb double duty, not only in helping me carry out the manage-

ment duties of OMB in addition to her own, but also in helping me evaluate very

impressive candidates for this terribly important position. No one is as anxious to

move on this as Alice and I. With the many initiatives on our management plate,

we cannot afford to lose momentum.
Specifically, I would like to emphasize two pressing legislative priorities this

morning before turning to the rest of our management agenda. While these two
items—buyout legislation and procurement reform—are not necessarily more impor-

tant than our other initiatives, they clearly are the most urgent.

(45)



46

Legislative Priorities

Buyouts, or the ability to offer incentives to get employees to leave voluntarily,

are a critical prerequisite to streamlining the government in a rational way. Regret-

tably, the Administration apparently has not been as clear as we would have liked

about why we need buyouts and why we need them now. Let me be crystal clear

now.
We have an acute problem. Congress and the Administration agreed that we must

operate under extremely tight budget caps for the next 5 years. In addition, the

President has called, with the support of Congress, for a 100,000 reduction in Fed-

eral employment by the end of fiscal 1995, and a total reduction of 252,000 by the

end of fiscal 1999, or a 12 percent reduction in the civilian, non-postal work force.

These combined forces—the caps, the President's executive order, and the NPR—
create real urgency.
The only reasonable way for agencies to respond to these challenges is to reexam-

ine their core missions and basic work processes. We are committed not just to a

smaller work force but to government-wide restructuring that makes the govern-

ment work better. Though each agency should reexamine all that it does, the agen-

cies are particularly targeting administrative control and headquarters functions,

and excess layers of middle management.
Unfortunately, attrition simply will not get us very far towards our reduction goal.

We simply cannot expect to achieve these large numbers through attrition. More-

over, agency heads obviously have no discretion over who leaves and when. The av-

erage grade of employees who retired or resigned in 1992 was 8.1—not the middle

managers at grades 13 through 15 and above that need to be targeted. In fact, attri-

tion for GS-14s in 1992 was 3 percent, while the rate for GS-3s was 11 percent.

Simply put, a reliance on attrition alone would give us insufficient reductions and
an unbalanced work force in every way—senior-junior, male-female, minority-non

minority—and with the wrong mix of skills.

Reductions in force, or RIFs, are the other employment-reducing alternative, if

buyouts are not available. Managerial positions can be targeted, but agency 'bump-
ing" rules allow managers to move down to less skilled jobs at their previous pay
level—and on down the line until the junior-most person is "bumped" out the door.

RIFs are tremendously disruptive and arguably do the opposite of what we all seek:

they make government cost more and work worse.

Buyouts, however, permit agencies to target employees who are no longer needed.

They are voluntary, and therefore less disruptive, faster to administer, and can pre-

serve diversity in the work force. Buyouts are not a handout, as some seem to think.

And they need not be wasteful. Seventy-nine of the Fortune 100 companies—nearly

four out of five—have used them to downsize. Why? Because they make sense.

Buyouts reduce the need for inefficient RIFs. With buyouts, DOD, CIA, and legisla-

tive agencies, such as GAO, have been able to minimize RIFs and provide for a
(more) orderly downsizing. And please note: the average buyout in the private sector

is $44,600, or 44 percent higher than the maximum $25,000 amount we are propos-

ing.

The civilian agencies are simply seeking a tool that most of the private sector,

the Defense Department, and others already have at their disposal. But they cannot
wait. We begin the second half of the fiscal year on April 1. Agencies must pay for

the buyouts this fiscal year with this year's money. If buyout authority is not avail-

able within a few weeks, some agencies will have to RIF to meet tight budget caps
and FTE targets.

As you know, an issue has been raised as to the cost of buyouts and the so-called

PAYGO effects. Let me explain where CBO and 0MB agree and disagree on the cost

of these buyouts, which has been one source of confusion. CBO and 0MB agree that

the net reduction of 252,000 employees saves the government money. We agree that

the up-front costs of the buyout to get those reductions are fully offset by salary sav-

ings in a very short period.

0MB and CBO also agree that the retirement costs are budget-neutral in the long

run. That is because the earlier annuity is fully offset by (a) the reduced annuity
paid to the employee who elects to leave earlier than planned and (b) an additional

9 percent agency contribution into the retirement fund.

The problem arises because of a technical difference between us on how to score

indirect, short-term effects on the retirement system. In our view, the Budget En-
forcement Act does not permit indirect effects of legislation to be scored: because the

proposed legislation does not change existing retirement law at all, any secondary
short-term impact of the buyout bill on the retirement funds is clearly indirect. On
the other hand, CBO scores indirect, short-term costs of $519 million against the

bill, even though these costs are eventually offset. It would be helpful for CBO and
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0MB to resolve our approaches to indirect effects, but in the meantime, we recog-

nize that we have a scoring difference and are committed to continue working with

you and the rest of the Congress to resolve this urgent issue of buyouts.

The long and short of it is that the net reduction of 252,000 in the work force

saves a lot of money, and buyouts, which help get us there intelligently, are ulti-

mately cost-neutral. With buyouts, we can make real improvements in processes,

not undertake a "slash and bum" exercise, and we can mmimize RIFs. They make
sense. Just ask our increasingly productive private sector.

Procurement Reform

We should further assist agencies in their streamlining efforts by passing procure-

ment reform measures as soon as possible. Mr. Chairman, the Fecieral Acquisition

Streamlining Act, which you developed and unveiled with the President last Octo-

ber, is exactly the type of cooperative effort the people of this country want and need
to eliminate waste and inefficiency in the spending of tax dollars. Procurement re-

form can yield substantial savings.

As the President has indicated, we must shift our focus in procurement from rules

to results, while maintaining integrity, accountability and value for taxpayers. I am
pleased that our respective staffs as well as those of other committees are working
so closely to push through this important overhaul of the complex and burdensome
maze of laws and regulations called Federal procurement. We support the principles

behind the legislation and seek its swift passage. It contains Key improvements,
such as establishing a new simplified acquisition threshold at $100,000 and elimi-

nating many burdensome provisions now required for commercial items.

HR 3400 AND Paperwork Reduction Act

I also would like to say a few words about two other pieces of pending legislation

that are important to the Administration's management agenda: the financial man-
agement provisions within H.R. 3400, which cleared the House in the last session,

and the reauthorization of the Paperwork Reduction Act. Our financial management
proposals promote electronic government, seek to improve financial management
systems, streamline the financial reporting process to 0MB and Congress, and give

agencies more tools and incentives to collect more of the money that is owed to the

Federal Government. It also increases accountability to the Congress and the public

by extending financial statement audit requirements to all agency operations in the
23 CFOs Act agencies, following the successful agency-wide pilots that I reported
to you, Mr. Chairman, last November. Let me also stress the importance of passage
of the printing policy provisions in Title XTV of H.R. 3400, as introduced, which per-

mit Executive branch agencies to procure printing in the same manner as any other
good or service.

In addition, I urge the reauthorization of appropriations for the Office of Informa-
tion and Regulatory Affairs (OIRA) and the strengthening of the Paperwork Reduc-
tion Act. That Act provides a framework for managing the Federal Government's
collection, use, and dissemination of information, and the associated information
technology. The Administration supports legislation that is consistent with the Act's

original goals, updated and expanded as necessary to achieve the following general
principles—(1) that each agency be responsible for minimizing the burdens it im-
poses upon the public in collecting information; and (2) that each agency be respon-
sible for managing its information resources. Both S. 560 and S. 681 are consistent
with and promote these principles. My staff and I will continue to work with you
to produce legislation that achieves our objectives in a workable and effective way.

Management Agenda

Let me turn to our broader management agenda, how we are pursuing a govern-
ment that works better and costs less. It is true that most people's eyes glaze over
at the mere mention of audited financial statements or plans for performance meas-
urement pilots. But without proper attention to these building blocks of government
reform, efforts to restore faith in government inevitably will fail.

Sustained commitment to such efforts, we believe, is strengthened through colle-

gial processes to encourage buy-in among the agencies. The recently created Presi-
dent's Management Council (PMC), for one, is a serious, working body and not just
a ceremonial group of senior officials. The PMC is composed of mostly deputy sec-

retaries who have been designated Chief Operating OflTicers of their agencies. The
PMC has taken on as its number one priority the rational restructuring of the Fed-
eral work force. 0MB officials also are leading a number of new interagency task
forces—in information resources management, electronic benefits transfer, and elec-
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tronic commerce to name a few—to get buy-in from those who are responsible for

implementation.
Let me highlight a few of our management activities that are movmg us toward:

—accountability for results, not red tape and process controls;

—improved performance by changing incentives; and

—improved service and efficiency by capitalizing on current information tech-

nology.

Accountability for results

• Government Performance and Results Act: The first goal of government reform

should be to make sure programs accomplish their intended purposes. Two-

thirds of Americans agree with this view, as found by a Gallup last September.

That goal is the very cornerstone of the Government Performance and Results

Act of 1993—this Committee's strong, bipartisan legislation that, simply stated,

requires transformation of the Government by fiscal year 1999 into one that fo-

cuses on results and is held accountable for how it performs.

As a first step, the Act requires 10 agencies to establish pilots that set perform-

ance goals and compare actual performance against those goals for each of the

next 3 years. 0MB earlier this week designated, not 10, but 53 pilots in 21

agencies and expects to add more this spring. Covering 375,000 Federal employ-

ees and $48 billion in operating budgets, the pilots include the Forest Service,

the IRS, and the FBI's organized crime and drug program.

• Financial reporting: Empowerment, as recommended by the NPR, absolutely re-

quires accountabiUty. Financial reporting requires government agencies to show

how well they are achieving the expected results and disclosing to taxpayers

how their tax dollars are actually spent. The NPR recommended, and the Ad-

ministration is planning, issuance of an audited consolidated annual report on

Federal finances by 1997.

The Administration initiated a system in 1993 to report publicly the status of

financial management in the 23 agencies covered by the CFOs Act. For fiscal

year 1992, 95 reporting entities submitted audited financial statements, cover-

ing approximately $875 billion of gross budget authority; 37 were determined

by independent audit to be in conformity with prescribed accounting standards.

This is a marked increase from fiscal year 1991, when 55 reporting entities sub-

mitted audited financial statements and only 19 were determined to be in con-

formity with prescribed accounting standards.

To maintain momentum, 0MB administratively extended the pilot program for

organization-wide audited financial statements through fiscal year 1995. To im-

prove the usefulness of financial information, 0MB accelerated the due date for

audited financial statements to March 1 of each year. 0MB has also made a

major commitment to provide training on (i) financial reporting that will pro-

vide reliable and useful information, (ii) appropriate accounting principles, (iii)

control requirements to assure adherence to those principles, and (iv) audit

techniques. The Inspector General Auditor Training Institute is also providing

training to the Federal audit community in these same areas. There is still

much to be done; significant challenges remain for agencies to make improve-

ments in financial management activities.

• Attracting attention through the High Risk Program: The High Risk Program fo-

cuses attention on eliminating major risks confronting Federal agencies and

programs. The High Risk List represents a distillation of the most important

and pressing management problems facing Federal agencies. 0MB works ac-

tively with the agencies to ensure that high risk areas receive appropriate at-

tention. As we will report in the fiscal year 1995 Budget, the Federal Govern-

ment has made good progress this year correcting high risk areas.

0MB remains committed to working collaboratively with agencies to identify

and correct high risk areas and other material weaknesses identified through

the Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act (FMFL!\), audits of financial

statements and other IG and GAO audits. In the coming year, we will propose

a revision to 0MB Circular A-123, Internal Control Systems. (This Circular im-

plements the statutory requirements found in the FMFIA.) In line with NPR
recommendations, we need to help agencies streamline their management con-

trol programs, eliminate prescriptive procedural requirements, reduce burden

on agency managers and, at the same time, manage for results.

0MB policy will emphasize that the point of management controls is to ensure

accountability and good program results, not require undue paperwork and

process. As this policy guidance takes shape, we will work closely with the Com-
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mittee staff and the agencies to determine how best we can support our mutual

goal of improving the management of Federal operations.

• Credit and debt collection performance "contracts": Moving toward accountability

for results, 0MB and the for credit agencies are developing agreements for cred-

it management and debt collection activities. These "contracts" will lay out

agency commitments for the achievement of collection and default goals for the

next 12 to 18 months. In return for these commitments, 0MB will give agencies

the flexibility to determine the best strategy for meeting these goals, rather

than mandating the use of certain government-wide credit management and

debt collection tools and techniques.

• "Performance-based contracting": We believe that "performance-based contract-

ing," or a focus on what needs to be done rather than how to do it, will reduce

cost overruns and performance problems typical of government service con-

tracts. OMB's Office of Federal Procurement Policy (OFPP) believes that the

shift toward results will reduce contract administration problems and minimize

expensive process-oriented reviews at a time when service contracting, already

accounting for half of government contracting, is growing. OFPP also envisions

a shift toward fixed-price service contracts, giving contractors greater incentive

to be innovative.

Improved performance by changing incentives

• Past performance should be considered in new contract awards: Amazingly, past

performance normally has not been a significant factor in deciding which sup-

plier gets a government contract, although this is a standard and critical prac-

tice in the private sector. We announced last week that nearly all of the Federal

agencies have pledged to make past performance a major factor in the source

evaluation of a number of specific contracts they will compete this year. Over

$2.6 billion in estimated contract awards are involved in this effort. The results

from these efforts will serve as the basis for changes in government-wide poli-

cies, procedures and management practices for tne majority of Federal con-

tracts.

• Moving from rigid rules to guiding principles ID procurement: Adequate guid-

ance for Federal procurement officials should not require 1,600 pages of Govern-

ment-wide regulations and 2,900 more pages of agency-specific supplements. To
help streamline our procurement regulatorv system, a task force of procurement
professionals and Federal managers will begin rewriting the Federal procure-

ment regulations. With the advice of Congress and industry, we look to this ef-

fort to enable procurement personnel to meet the customer's needs and obtain

the best possible deal for the government. This will end unnecessary regulatory

requirements while still fostering competition and emphasizing best value in

Federal procurements.

• Provide incentives and remove barriers for collecting debt: Three provisions of

H.R. 3400 should strengthen debt collection by allowing agencies to retain a

small portion of delinquent debt collections for additional debt collection activi-

ties; permit greater use of private collection contractors by Federal agencies;

and enhance the Department of Justice's ability to use private counsel in civil

monetary litigation.

Improved service and efficiency by capitalizing on current information technology

The Federal Government is way behind in capitalizing on advances in technology

to decrease the cost of running Federal programs and improve delivery to the Arner-

ican public, as citizens and as taxpayers. We are moving toward a more efficient

and effective electronic government on several fronts:

• Making payments electronically: The Federal Government interacts financially

with taxpayers in scores of ways—from collecting taxes to paying Social Secu-

rity and other benefits, to paying vendors for goods and services. The initial

step, as proposed in H.R. 3400, will be to pay businesses with Federal contracts,

State and local governments, Federal employees and retirees with electronic

funds transfer (EFT). In addition, work is underway to determine how a re-

gional prototype might begin delivering multi-state and multi-program benefits

to welfare and child support recipients electronically in early 1996. States that

have begun or are about to begin these electronic benefits transfer (EBT) efforts

will be encouraged to provide leadership in their regions in a coordinated Fed-

eral-State effort to achieve nationwide EBT. 0MB heads an interagency task

force to plan these efforts.

• Electronic commerce: The electronic exchange of such procurement information

as solicitations, offers, invoices, etc. will simplify and reduce the cost of govern-
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ment contracting by increasing competition and accessibility to over 300,000
vendors, especially small-business owners. OFPP in concert with an interagency
task force is moving to develop an initial government-wide capability for elec-

tronic exchange of procurement information by early fiscal year 1995.

• Automated screening of loan applicants for creditworthiness: Clearly, persons
who previously defaulted on Government loans are a high risk for new ones.
Loan origination has been improved through expanded use of the Department
of Housing and Urban Development's computerized system for screening loan
applicants for defaults on previous HUD loans (the Credit Alert Interactive
Voice Response System, or "CAIVRS"). The data base now includes information
on delinquent and defaulted debts from the Departments of Agriculture, Edu-
cation, Veterans Affairs, and the Small Business Administration. VA has begun
using CAIVRS to screen its housing loan applicants. Next year, other credit

agencies will begin accessing the system for the screening of new loans.

• Improving financial systems. The underlying financial systems infrastructure is

critical to the success of establishing accountability. Systems that work effi-

ciently, communicate with one another, and contain accurate data are essential
to provide information to Federal managers. 0MB is helping agencies to im-
prove their financial management systems through updated guidance, on-site
systems reviews, and continued development of standard requirements to pro-
vide stewardship over budget and financial data.

• "Best Practices" Project for Managing Information Technology: Working closely
with GAO, we have formed a consortium of Federal agencies to spotlight "best
practices" that improve the ability of Federal agencies to serve the public and
increases the efficiency of program administration. These best practices focus on
using information technology to bring government services and information to

the public when it is convenient for them—not only when it is convenient to
the government. Examples include promoting the use of touch tone phones to

apply for Federal jobs or file a 1040 EZ tax return.

• Sharing information electronically: A number of Federal agencies are using in-

formation technology to improve appropriate information sharing within the
government. One exarnple is a pilot between the Customs Service and Food and
Drug Administration (FDA) to share information electronically to expedite low-
risk shipments and allow FDA inspectors to focus on more risky cargos. Another
example is the planned automation of medical records sharing between the De-
partments of Army and Veterans Affairs to speed up the processing of veterans'
disability claims processing.

• Electronic availability ofgovernment information. 0MB is engaged in the devel-
opment of an electronic Government Information Locator Service. Later this
year, it will operate as a directory to government information directories and
eventually provide a direct link to underlying electronic databases.

We recognize that we have a very full management improvement agenda. We also
recognize the importance of ensuring that the accountability, technology, and appro-
priate incentives are in place so that, as we move toward a government focused on
results, we have the underlying infrastructure to support it. It takes hard work to
get from rhetoric to reality and it is difficult to do it all at once, but we believe the
next big steps to make this happen will be and must be done in partnership with
this Committee and others in Congress.
Mr. Chairman, we look forward to answering any questions.
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